Presidential Polarization

JOHN O. McGinnis* & Michael B. Rappaport†

Political polarization is a great political problem of our time. While it has many sources, one important cause is the deformation of our governmental structure. That structure once required consensus to enact important policy changes. Now the President can adopt such changes unilaterally.

Because the President represents the median of his or her party, not of the nation, the decisions of the President normally are more extreme than what would emerge from Congress, particularly when, as is usually the case, the houses of Congress and the President are divided among the parties. Domestically, Congress's delegation of policy decisions to the executive branch allows the President's administration to create the most important regulations of our economic and social life. The result is relatively extreme regulations that can shift radically between administrations of different parties, creating polarization and frustrating the search for political consensus. In the arena of foreign affairs as well, presidential power to engage in military interventions and to strike substantial international agreements on the President's own authority avoids the need to compromise to achieve political consensus.

Understanding the institutional roots of polarization provides a roadmap to changing the law to restore a constitution of compromise. Excessive delegation should be curbed, forcing Congress to make key decisions. The President's initiation of hostilities and executive agreements should be limited by requiring prior congressional authorization or swift congressional ratification after the fact. None of these reforms require us to begin the world anew, but instead to return to tried and tested constitutional structures. In a politics where compromise is routinely required, citizens would become less polarized, seeing each other less as targets or threats and more as partners in a common civic enterprise.

^{*}George C. Dix Professor in Constitutional Law, Northwestern University. The authors would like to thank Zachary Clopton, Alex Lee, Nelson Lund, Mark Movsesian, and Michael Ramsey for comments on earlier drafts and participants in conferences at the Center for the Study of the Administrative State and at workshops at Northwestern Pritzker School of Law and the University of Wisconsin Law School for helpful comments.

[†] Hugh & Hazel Darling Foundation Professor of Law, University of San Diego.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	6
II.	UNDERSTANDING POLARIZATION	12
III.	DELEGATION VERSUS LEGISLATION	15
	A. The Problem of Delegation and Polarization	15
	B. Congressional Solutions	
	C. Judicial Solutions	
	D. Objections	31
IV.	UNILATERAL PRESIDENTIAL AUTHORITY ABROAD	
	A. Military Action	37
	B. Agreements with Foreign Nations	
	1. The Constitution and International Agreements	
	2. The Growth of Unilateralism in Executive Agreements	
V.	RESPONSES TO COUNTERARGUMENTS	
	A. Polarization Leads to Unilateralism	50
	B. Accountability	52
	C. Privileging the Status Quo	
	D. Principled Decision-Making	
	E. Advantages for Good Decision-Making	
	1. Delegation and the Administrative State	
	a. <i>Expertise</i>	
	b. <i>Time</i>	
	c. Emergency	57
	2. Presidential Unilateralism in Military and Foreign	
	Affairs	58
	a. Expertise	
	b. <i>Time</i>	
	c. Emergency	
VI.	CONCLUSION: A WORLD OF CONTENDING EXTREMES OR A WORLD	
	OF COOPERATION AND COMPROMISE?	59

I. INTRODUCTION

Commentators regularly decry the polarization of American politics. The vital center seems to have disappeared to be replaced by policies that lurch to ideological extremes. Reasoned debate has given way to constant outrage and insult. This sea change is attributed to many causes. Some blame the greater

¹ Richard H. Pildes, *Why the Center Does Not Hold: The Causes of Hyperpolarized Democracy in America*, 99 CALIF. L. REV. 273, 276 n.2 (2011) (collecting a wide variety of sources that observe how polarized the United States has become).

ideological homogeneity of the political parties.² Others focus on the polarizing effect of social media, where partisans retreat to reinforcing echo chambers.³ Still others point the finger at the recent norm-breaking President.⁴

But an important and previously undiscussed factor has been the deformation of our governmental structure. This legal deformation has occurred in both domestic and foreign affairs. Congress's delegation of policymaking to the executive branch polarizes the all-important issue of government regulation. Presidential unilateralism in war making and foreign affairs polarizes issues of war and peace.⁵

Delegation by Congress probably has the most pervasive polarizing effects. Much of our domestic policy is today made not in Congress, but in administrative agencies, controlled by the party of the elected President.⁶ As a result, regulations do not emerge from a process encouraging compromise among legislators of different parties and different factions within parties. Instead, the President's agency heads make federal law. Since the President represents the middle of his or her party, not the middle of the nation, these rules will often seem extreme to many people. And when a President of the opposite party enters office, newly empowered agency heads can often change the rules 180 degrees.⁷

We saw this cycle play out between the Obama and Trump administrations in policies ranging from the environment to telecommunications to immigration. We are likely to witness it again as President Joseph Biden reverses Trump administration policies that have been instituted by executive fiats. Not surprisingly, each set of partisan rulemakings angers members of the other party,

² Cynthia R. Farina, *Congressional Polarization: Terminal Constitutional Dysfunction?*, 115 COLUM. L. REV. 1689, 1693 (2015) (discussing evidence that this has been happening in Congress since the 1970s).

³ See Fabian Baumann, Philipp Lorenz-Spreen, Igor M. Sokolov & Michele Starnini, *Modeling Echo Chambers and Polarization Dynamics in Social Networks*, PHYSICAL REV. LETTERS, Jan. 2020, at 048301-1, 048301-5 (discussing how social media creates echo chambers and how that leads to polarization).

⁴ Ed Kilgore, *Trump Is Achieving Peak Polarization*, N.Y. MAG.: INTELLIGENCER (July 23, 2019), http://nymag.com/intelligencer/2019/07/trump-is-achieving-peak-polarization.html (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*).

⁵ We recognize that polarization and extremism are different concepts. But as political phenomena they are related. It is well-established that polarized groups tend to extreme views. *See* Cass R. Sunstein, *Deliberative Trouble? Why Groups Go to Extremes*, 110 YALE L.J. 71, 74 (2000). Extremism leads to polarization as well. *See id.* at 77.

⁶ See, e.g., Mark Seidenfeld, A Civic Republican Justification for the Bureaucratic State, 105 HARV. L. REV. 1511, 1512 (1992) ("Over the past century, the powers and responsibilities of administrative agencies have grown to an extent that calls into question the constitutional legitimacy of the modern federal bureaucracy.").

⁷ See David A. Dana & Michael Barsa, Judicial Review in an Age of Hyper-Polarization and Alternative Facts, 9 SAN DIEGO J. CLIMATE & ENERGY L. 231, 241 (2018).

making them more likely to take an even more extreme path when their party wins the presidency and gains control of the administrative state.⁸

The imperial administrative presidency also raises the stakes of any presidential election, making each side fear that the other will enjoy largely unchecked and substantial power in many areas of policy. The decline of a politics of legislative compromise is itself a cause of polarization and division. Compromises may leave people unsatisfied, but the imposition of extreme policies with which they disagree makes them angry, I further alienating them from their wholly victorious opponents. The result is both a more acrimonious presidential contest and a perpetual campaign, as the losing side gears up immediately to win the all-important contest next time.

Presidents have also seized unilateral authority in war making and foreign affairs. Since World War II, Presidents have conducted offensive military action without congressional authorization, like President George H.W. Bush's

⁸ See Kenneth S. Lowande & Sidney M. Milkis, "We Can't Wait": Barack Obama, Partisan Polarization and the Administrative Presidency, 12 FORUM 3, 24 (2014).

⁹ See id. at 19; see also Sidney M. Milkis & John Warren York, Barack Obama, Organizing for Action, and Executive-Centered Partisanship, 31 STUD. AM. POL. DEV. 1, 3 (2017) (discussing "the increased reliance upon the president to set the nation's programmatic agenda" amidst "growing partisan conflict").

¹⁰ See Amy Gutmann & Dennis Thompson, *The Mindsets of Political Compromise*, 8 PERSPS. ON POL. 1125, 1127 (2010) ("A compromising mindset can mitigate the effects of polarization..., while an uncompromising mindset can exacerbate those effects.").

¹¹ See Eran Halperin, Alexandra G. Russell, Carol S. Dweck & James J. Gross, Anger, Hatred, and the Quest for Peace: Anger Can Be Constructive in the Absence of Hatred, 55 J. CONFLICT RESOL. 274, 275 (2011) ("[A]nger is elicited when the out-group's actions are perceived as unjust and as deviating from acceptable norms. . . . [P]eople who feel angry believe that urgent action is needed to correct the perceived wrongdoing and may believe that their group is capable of initiating such corrective action. This often leads to a tendency to confront, hit, kill, or attack the anger-evoking target." (citations omitted)). For examples of partisan anger over policies viewed as extreme, see Norm Ornstein, The Real Story of Obamacare's Birth, ATLANTIC (July 6, 2015), https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive /2015/07/the-real-story-of-obamacares-birth/397742/ [https://perma.cc/75MN-JZUW] ("The narrative of Obama steamrollering over Republicans and enacting an unconstitutional [healthcare] bill that brought America much closer to socialism worked like a charm to stimulate conservative and Republican anger."), and Russell Berman, How Progressives Are Forcing Senate Democrats into Action, ATLANTIC (Feb. 1, 2017), https://www.theatlantic.com /politics/archive/2017/02/senate-democrats-trump-cabinet-progressive-base/515286/ [https:// perma.cc/Z3GC-6HC5] (discussing "the furor over Trump's executive orders" banning travel from majority-Muslim countries and the low chance for bipartisan collaboration).

¹² See Jennifer McCoy, Tahmina Rahman & Murat Somer, *Polarization and the Global Crisis of Democracy: Common Patterns, Dynamics, and Pernicious Consequences for Democratic Polities*, 62 AM. BEHAV. SCIENTIST 16, 24–25 (2018) ("The more people hear... that they have zero-sum interests, where if 'they' win, 'we' lose, the less they seek joint collective actions and have shared experiences," leading to greater alienation.).

¹³ See id.; see also Robert Reich, The Permanent Election, Am. Prospect (Aug. 27, 2003), https://prospect.org/features/permanent-election/ [https://perma.cc/ST5E-WLER].

invasion of Panama.¹⁴ More recently, President Barack Obama entered into a major international agreement, the Paris Accord on Climate Change, without securing two-thirds of the Senate or getting majority support in Congress, eschewing not only the mechanism of treaty ratification but also the alternative of a congressional/executive agreement.¹⁵ President Trump then withdrew from the agreement and President Biden has reentered it, all on their own authority.¹⁶

These actions contribute to polarization as well. The unilateral authority of the President allows important military action or international agreements to be undertaken with no consensus, which makes it likely that they will be politically controversial. Moreover, when the President takes a unilateral action, it is easier for members of Congress to criticize it than it would if they had voted to approve it. By contrast, when Congress approves a military action, it becomes harder for its members to find fault with the action at the first sign of difficulty. Thus, it makes it less likely that a military action will become an opportunity for partisan attacks. The military action can then receive the support of the union rather than being a source of national division. Similarly, executive agreements made without congressional authorization are unstable and can be the object of partisan whiplash.

The concern about such presidential unilateralism is not itself new. In 1973, Arthur Schlesinger wrote his classic, *The Imperial Presidency*, decrying the growth of presidential power beyond constitutional limits. His analysis has been updated to include reviews of subsequent presidencies and amplified to describe new modes of aggrandizement in the decades since. But the concern about the imperial presidency has mostly focused on foreign policy and counted its costs, as principally those of excessive secrecy and tendency to get the United States into expensive wars. His Article makes two additional contributions to the analysis of the imperial presidency. First, it views the rise of the

 $^{^{14}}$ See, e.g., Carl T. Bogus, The Invasion of Panama and the Rule of Law, 26 Int'l Law. 781, 781 (1992).

¹⁵ See Joel Stonedale, President Obama's Signing of the Paris Agreement Is Only Good for Nine Months, HILL (Apr. 18, 2016), https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/energy-environment/276668-president-obamas-signing-of-the-paris-agreement-is [https://perma.cc/BTX6-SAE3].

¹⁶ See President Trump Announces U.S. Withdrawal from the Paris Climate Accord, WHITE HOUSE (June 1, 2017), https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/articles/president-trump-announces-u-s-withdrawal-paris-climate-accord/ [https://perma.cc/PS8A-XF85] [hereinafter President Trump Announces]; infra note 168.

¹⁷ See generally Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., The Imperial Presidency (1973).

¹⁸ See, e.g., Jon Herbert, Revisiting Arthur Schlesinger's The Imperial Presidency: Richard Nixon, George W. Bush, and Executive Power, in WATERGATE REMEMBERED: THE LEGACY FOR AMERICAN POLITICS 29, 34–39 (Michael A. Genovese & Iwan W. Morgan eds., 2012); CHARLIE SAVAGE, TAKEOVER: THE RETURN OF THE IMPERIAL PRESIDENCY AND THE SUBVERSION OF AMERICAN DEMOCRACY 3–4 (2007); Kevin M. Kruse & Julian E. Zelizer, Have We Had Enough of the Imperial Presidency Yet?, N.Y. TIMES (Jan. 9, 2019), https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/09/opinion/president-trump-border-wall-weak.html [https://perma.cc/EB8B-FBTW].

¹⁹ See, e.g., SCHLESINGER, JR., supra note 17, at 299, 354.

administrative state and the exercise of discretion by Presidents and their appointees as an essential, likely more important, part of the story of the rise of the imperial presidency.²⁰ Second, it describes another large cost of such relatively unconstrained unilateral political power—its contribution to polarization and political disunion.

Most importantly, our warped structure of government creates a shrill debate where people do not need to listen to or to compromise with their fellow citizens to secure their objectives. It rewards ideological entrepreneurs, like Bernie Sanders and Ted Cruz, rather than dealmakers, like Joe Manchin or Mitt Romney. Yet, a politics that lurches to extremes does not deliver permanent victories to either side but instead succeeds in making them, and the many people in the middle, unhappy and insecure most of the time.²¹ In contrast, compromise in legislatures that dealmakers facilitate leave a greater number of people satisfied.²²

Without institutional reform, both sides are locked into a prisoner's dilemma: while both parties would benefit from a regime of greater moderation, neither side can moderate for fear that the other side will just continue to use the existing structure to pursue its own extreme policies.²³ Indeed, the rational response to the prospect of the other side's extreme policy may be to "go nuclear" first.²⁴ In other words, the danger that the party out of power may eliminate moderate structures when it takes over encourages the party in power to eliminate those structures now.²⁵

This Article contains both a descriptive thesis about the relation of our law to our politics and a normative thesis for reforming law and thereby changing our politics. Our descriptive thesis is that changes in government structure have substantially contributed to polarization. Our normative thesis is that reversing these changes would decrease polarization and would be desirable. While it is

²⁰ Others have worried about the aggrandizement of presidential power emanating from the rise of the administrative state. *See, e.g.*, Abner S. Greene, *Checks and Balances in an Era of Presidential Lawmaking*, 61 U. CHI. L. REV. 123, 124–26, 153–54 (1994); Peter M. Shane, *Independent Policymaking and Presidential Power: A Constitutional Analysis*, 57 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 596, 622 (1989); Peter L. Strauss, *The Place of Agencies in Government: Separation of Powers and the Fourth Branch*, 84 COLUM. L. REV. 573, 581 (1984). But they have not drawn the connection between that concern and the greater foreign policy focus traditionally associated with critics of the imperial presidency.

²¹ See Farina, supra note 2, at 1716 ("[S]ubstantially more people say they prefer elected officials who make compromises to those 'who stick to their positions."").

²² See Edward L. Rubin, *Public Choice and Legal Scholarship*, 46 J. LEGAL EDUC. 490, 492 (1996).

²³ Lowande & Milkis, *supra* note 8, at 24.

²⁴ See, e.g., id. at 23.

²⁵ See, e.g., Matthew Rosza, Harry Reid Urges Repeal of the Filibuster, Calling the Senate an "Unworkable Legislative Graveyard," SALON (Aug. 13, 2019), https://www.salon.com/2019/08/13/harry-reid-urges-repeal-of-the-filibuster-calling-the-senate-an-unworkable-legislative-graveyard/ [https://perma.cc/DDT9-NZL6] (noting that currently Democrats want to get rid of the filibuster).

possible to agree with our descriptive thesis without accepting our normative thesis, we argue for both. The theses are also closely related in that the description of which institutional deformations contribute to polarization provides a clear roadmap of reform to temper our current age of partisan discontent.

For instance, various legal and doctrinal routes exist to curb the excessive delegation that leads to extremism by forcing Congress, rather than agencies, to become primarily responsible for enacting the rules that govern us and thereby make compromise more likely. Congress could make itself responsible for voting on important regulations or the Court could prompt more such votes by cutting back on the lenient delegation doctrine and other legal rules that give interpretative authority over the scope of the administrative state to the President's agents rather than the courts. Also, Congress can make the War Powers Resolution more effective and can pass legislation that prevents major international agreements from having the force of law unless passed through a treaty that requires ratification by two-thirds of the Senate or a congressional/executive agreement that requires approval by a majority of both houses.

Such reforms do not require us to begin the world anew, but to return to the tested institutional structure that governed America for much of its history. The original Constitution was the product of compromise that induced a politics of compromise. The result of following that Constitution should be not only less extreme policies, but also a less strident politics where people of differing perspectives are induced to work together to determine the common good.

We recognize and embrace other social goods that would flow from empowering congressional rather than administrative government. For example, law would become more stable and thereby allow people and businesses to better plan. But our primary focus here is on the advantages that congressional governance will bring by making our nation less polarized.

This Article proceeds in four parts. Part II describes the concept of polarization and assesses it costs. Part III describes the rise of administrative agency governance, its contribution to polarization, and possible reforms of this deformation of our governmental structure. Part IV describes the President's usurpation of unilateral power in military and foreign affairs, its contribution to polarization, and suggestions for reform.

Finally, Part V confronts some possible objections to our descriptive and normative claims. First, we refute the objection to our descriptive thesis that

²⁶ For a discussion of the government structure that precluded the large administrative state of the form we have today, see Gary Lawson, *The Rise and Rise of the Administrative State*, 107 HARV. L. REV. 1231, 1233–36 (1994). For a discussion of the structure that precluded unilateral presidential offensive military action, see Michael D. Ramsey, *Textualism and War Powers*, 69 U. CHI. L. REV. 1543, 1543–44 (2002) (explaining that under the Constitution, the President does not have power to initiate war without congressional declaration, although he or she does have some power to take military action, like defending the nation or its citizens even if that might lead to war).

12

polarization is only the cause rather than also the consequence of the change in government we describe, while acknowledging that legal structure is just one cause among many of the complex phenomenon of polarization. Second, we respond to the argument against our normative thesis that these governmental changes have virtues—greater accountability, easier change from the status quo, more principled policymaking, or structures for better decision-making—that outweigh their costs in terms of polarization. Even if polarization has such benefits, which we show in many cases are negligible or overstated, they are outweighed by the costs of political division.

II. UNDERSTANDING POLARIZATION

In this Part, we consider the concept of political polarization, showing how it relates to our arguments. Polarization is a concept deployed by political scientists as well as law professors.²⁷ At its simplest, it measures the distance in the policy space between people on political issues.²⁸ A legislature becomes more polarized in a two-party system as the distance in policy preferences between the median legislators of the two parties grows.²⁹ Substantial evidence exists that such polarization has been growing in Congress.³⁰

Polarization may also include the development of an "uncompromising mindset," in which each side distrusts the other and comes to distrust

²⁷ See, e.g., NoLan McCarty, Keith T. Poole & Howard Rosenthal, Polarized America: The Dance of Ideology and Unequal Riches 3 (2006); Pildes, *supra* note 1, at 274 ("[T]he major cause of the extreme polarization of our era is the historical transformation of American democracy and America's political parties set into motion by the 1965 Voting Rights Act."); Farina, *supra* note 2, at 1691 ("It has thus become impossible to think about the place of agencies in contemporary American government without first coming to terms with the political polarization"); Gillian E. Metzger, *Agencies, Polarization, and the States*, 115 Colum. L. Rev. 1739, 1742 (2015) ("Administrative government, and particularly regulatory government, fundamentally transforms the polarization equation.").

²⁸ See James E. Campbell, Polarized: Making Sense of a Divided America 17 (2016) ("[P]olitics would be completely polarized when two sides of equal size were as far apart as possible in their perspectives."); see also McCarty, Poole & Rosenthal, supra note 27, at 3 ("Polarization is, for short, a separation of politics into liberal and conservative camps.").

²⁹ See McCarty, Poole & Rosenthal, supra note 27, at 24 ("The positions of the average Democrat and average Republican member of Congress have become more widely separated. That is, the difference in the party means has increased over time."); see also Campbell, supra note 28, at 21 (discussing the McCloskey study, which found that "ideological and issue differences are greater between the parties' leaders than between their followers").

³⁰B. DAN WOOD & SOREN JORDAN, PARTY POLARIZATION IN AMERICA: THE WAR OVER TWO SOCIAL CONTRACTS 263–64 (2017) (citing multiple studies documenting increased congressional polarization since the 1980s).

compromise itself.³¹ This state of affairs moves beyond substantive policy disagreements into identity politics or tribalism, in which an "us versus them" mentality flourishes and each side views the other as an existential threat to be destroyed rather than engaged with.³² Uncompromising partisans may use past cleavages to polarize new issues, expanding the "us versus them" mentality into new policy areas.³³ Thus, it is particularly important to reform the structures that lead to political polarization to prevent tribalism from enveloping society.

Political scientists distinguish between elite and mass polarization. Elite polarization is polarization among the society's social leaders, legislators, administrators, judges, and opinion leaders.³⁴ Mass polarization is the polarization of ordinary citizens.³⁵ These kinds of polarization reinforce one another.³⁶ In particular, it is thought that elite polarization tends to generate mass polarization, as elites vilify one another before a mass audience. 37 Given

³¹ See Gutmann & Thompson, supra note 10, at 1125, 1132–33 (defining the "uncompromising mindset" and discussing "motive cynicism," in which one side mistrusts the other's motives and may come to mistrust the process of compromise itself).

³² McCoy, Rahman & Somer, *supra* note 12, at 18, 19, 23 ("[E]ach camp questions the moral legitimacy of the others, viewing the opposing camp and its policies as an existential threat . . . to be vanquished. . . . [The] distance between groups moves beyond principled issue-based differences to a social identity.... Severely polarized democracies, then, exhibit the tribal nature of intergroup dynamics, in which members become fiercely loyal to their 'team,' wanting it to win at all costs, and strongly biased or prejudiced against the other group." (citations omitted)).

³³ See WOOD & JORDAN, supra note 30, at 265 ("Scholars have also theorized that the political parties engage in conflict extension, rather than conflict displacement, through time....[E]lites have an incentive to polarize iteratively on new issues while retaining partisan cleavages on past issues. Thus, conflict extension theory would suggest that elites maintained the older partisan cleavage over economic issues, while subsequently adding cultural issues to bolster their base.").

³⁴ See Nolan McCarty, Polarization: What Everyone Needs to Know 13 (2019). ³⁵ Id.

³⁶ See Gary C. Jacobson, Party Polarization in National Politics: The Electoral Connection, in Polarized Politics: Congress and the President in a Partisan Era 9, 26 (Jon R. Bond & Richard Fleisher eds., 2000) ("[T]he relationship between mass and elite partisan consistency is inherently interactive. Between the 1970s and the 1990s, changes in electoral and congressional politics reinforced one another"); see also WOOD & JORDAN, supra note 30, at 298 (discussing evidence that suggests that mass and elite polarization have "a mutually reinforcing relationship" but elite polarization is dominant).

³⁷ WOOD & JORDAN, *supra* note 30, at 265 (discussing scholarship that "showed that changing issue positions among elites transmits signals to the masses by increasing the clarity of party stances"); see also Joshua N. Zingher & Michael E. Flynn, From on High: The Effect of Elite Polarization on Mass Attitudes and Behaviors, 1972–2012, 48 Brit. J. Pol. Sci. 23, 23 (2018) ("[A]s party elites have become more polarized, individuals have become better able to identify the party that best matches their own ideological positions, thereby contributing to polarization at the mass level."); Marc J. Hetherington, Resurgent Mass Partisanship: The Role of Elite Polarization, 95 AM. Pol. Sci. Rev. 619, 619 (2001) ("Greater partisan polarization in Congress has clarified the parties' ideological positions for ordinary Americans, which in turn has increased party importance and salience on the mass

that our focus in this Article is how a change in government structure can increase polarization, we mostly discuss elite polarization. But our proposals to temper elite polarization will also likely help arrest mass polarization because of the relation between the two.

Political scientists also distinguish between benign and pernicious polarization.³⁸ Benign polarization aids the political system by making it possible to form political parties.³⁹ Without a certain degree of polarization, politicians and voters would not establish the stable association of political positions and parties that are necessary for parties to exist.⁴⁰ Pernicious polarization, however, harms democracy by undermining the ability of citizens of different views to reach compromises and by fracturing the civil society that provides a stable foundation for politics.⁴¹ In Part IV, we explain that a decline in unilateralism in our system would still allow for benign polarization. We already have strong political parties and free media for clarifying issues. It is extremely unlikely that a return to political structures that promote compromise would eliminate benign polarization. Political parties existed through long periods of American history under these structures.

In this Article, we use the term polarization in its broad sense to include not only sharp division on policy issues but also the "us versus them" mentality. And we view these two different aspects of polarization as reinforcing one another.

Our analysis begins with the sharp division on policy issues. But this sharp division is reinforced by other considerations. In recent years, there is little overlap between the two political parties. In Congress no Democrats are more

_

level."). *But see* MCCARTY, *supra* note 34, at 13 ("While most people assume that elite and mass polarization are closely related, that is often not the case.").

³⁸ See, e.g., Yannis Stavrakakis, Paradoxes of Polarization: Democracy's Inherent Division and the (Anti-) Populist Challenge, 62 AM. BEHAV. SCIENTIST 43, 49 (2018) ("[P]olarization can then acquire legitimate and illegitimate, benign and pernicious forms."); see also Jennifer McCoy & Murat Somer, Toward a Theory of Pernicious Polarization and How It Harms Democracies: Comparative Evidence and Possible Remedies, 681 ANNALS AM. ACAD. POL. & Soc. Sci. 234, 235 (2019) ("[P]olitical polarization is associated with both democratic strengthening and democratic erosion.").

³⁹ See McCoy & Somer, supra note 38, at 235 ("Polarization can help to strengthen political parties and institutionalize party systems because it enables them to mobilize voters around identifiable differences.").

⁴⁰ Id. ("Offering voters clear choices and serving as heuristic cues can be helpful to democracy."); see also WOOD & JORDAN, supra note 30, at 265 (discussing scholarship that "showed that changing issue positions among elites transmits signals to the masses by increasing the clarity of party stances").

⁴¹ See McCoy & Somer, supra note 38, at 235–36 (describing how pernicious polarization can create an "us vs. them" mentality, leading to a breakdown in social interaction); McCoy, Rahman & Somer, supra note 12, at 18–19 ("[Pernicious polarization] make[s] compromise, consensus, interaction, and tolerance increasingly costly and tenuous for individuals and political actors Situations of deep polarization create problems of governance as communication and trust break down and the two camps prove unwilling and unable to negotiate and compromise.").

conservative than any Republicans and no Republicans more liberal than any Democrat. And there are few legislators in the middle.⁴² This lack of overlap and centrist legislators makes it harder to effect compromises.⁴³ Moreover, the distance between the parties and the lack of compromise leads to a strong rational fear of losing elections, since the other party is likely to take so many actions that one's party views as destructive.

The sharp division, lack of compromise, and rational fear also affect the political psychology of legislators and citizens alike. Together these features cause people to view the opposite party not merely as a political opponent, but as a threat to the country. In such a climate, this psychology reinforces the policy division between the parties, making it even harder to compromise with the other side. Instead, the fear of the threat from the other party incentivizes constant outrage and insult between parties. The fact that the news media rewards this rancorous language only exacerbates the problem.⁴⁴

III. DELEGATION VERSUS LEGISLATION

A. The Problem of Delegation and Polarization

Delegation is a legislative act by which Congress permits administrative agencies to act with the force of law.⁴⁵ There are over 100 administrative agencies in Washington, from the Federal Communication Commission to the

⁴² Drew Desilver, *The Polarized Congress of Today Has Its Roots in the 1970s*, PEW RSCH. CTR. (June 12, 2014), https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2014/06/12/polarized-politics-in-congress-began-in-the-1970s-and-has-been-getting-worse-ever-since/ [https://perma.cc/TZ63-RWBJ] (finding no overlap between Democrats and Republicans when ordering them from most liberal to most conservative); Pildes, *supra* note 1, at 277 ("Even in the Senate, the most conservative Democrat is now more liberal than the most liberal Republican.").

⁴³ See PEW RSCH. CTR., POLITICAL POLARIZATION IN THE AMERICAN PUBLIC 56 (June 2014), https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2014/06/12/political-polarization-in-the-american-public/ [https://perma.cc/C2C5-ZHCE] ("[T]hose at opposite ends of the ideological spectrum see less benefit in meeting the other side halfway.").

⁴⁴ See, e.g., Robert Faris et al., *Partisanship, Propaganda, and Disinformation: Online Media and the 2016 U.S. Presidential Election*, BERKMAN KLEIN CTR. FOR INTERNET & SOC'Y RSCH. 1, 131 (Aug. 2017), https://dash.harvard.edu/bitstream/handle/1/33759251/2017-08_electionReport_0.pdf?sequence=9&isAllowed=y [https://perma.cc/T9AN-PG9T] (explaining how "extremist messaging" can "entic[e] and demand[] coverage from centerleft press").

⁴⁵ With the rise of formalism, the Court now resists the argument that Congress is actually transferring its Article I, section 1 powers. *See* Whitman v. Am. Trucking Ass'ns, Inc., 531 U.S. 457, 472 (2001) ("Article I, § 1, of the Constitution vests '[a]ll legislative Powers herein granted... in a Congress of the United States.' This text permits no delegation...."). But as commentators have noted, this claim seems to be largely a fiction, since the Court does not invalidate even very broad delegations of regulatory authority. *See* Thomas W. Merrill, *Rethinking Article I, Section I: From Nondelegation to Exclusive Delegation*, 104 COLUM. L. REV. 2097, 2105 (2004).

Environmental Protection Agency to the Securities and Exchange Commission.⁴⁶ Collectively, they use delegated authority to issue thousands of rules each year that are contained in tens of thousands of pages of the Federal Register.⁴⁷ Agencies write more rules that govern the public than does Congress.⁴⁸ Modern government in the United States has become administrative government.

Much debate has occurred about the exact constitutional requirements for congressional delegation. One common view is that Chief Justice Marshall captured an important distinction when he suggested that Congress must at least legislate on important subjects, while permitting the executive to fill in "the details." The leading textbook on administrative law has noted that the underlying purpose of requiring Congress to legislate and not broadly delegate is to advance the

particular constitutional goal of ensuring a deliberative democracy, one that involves not only accountability but also reflection and compromise. The vesting of lawmaking power in Congress is designed to ensure the combination of deliberation and accountability that comes from saying that government power cannot be brought to bear on individuals unless diverse representatives, from diverse places, have managed to agree 50

⁴⁶ There is disagreement over how many federal agencies exist, but the Administrative Conference puts the number at 115. *See* Clyde Wayne Crews, *Nobody Knows How Many Federal Agencies Exist*, COMPETITIVE ENTER. INST. (Aug. 26, 2015), https://cei.org/blog/nobody-knows-how-many-federal-agencies-exist [https://perma.cc/9BMV-SGCX].

⁴⁷ See Clyde Wayne Crews, *Trump Regulations: Federal Register Page Count Is Lowest in Quarter Century*, COMPETITIVE ENTER. INST. (Dec. 29, 2017), https://cei.org/blog/trump-regulations-federal-register-page-count-lowest-quarter-century [https://perma.cc/C3VM-R4VT] (showing that in last quarter century the number of rules promulgated annually has ranged from a low of approximately 3,000 pages to a high of approximately 4,000 pages and the number pages of the Federal Register has ranged from a low of approximately 50,000 pages to a high of approximately 90,000 pages).

⁴⁸ The highest number of laws enacted by Congress in a year in last quarter of century is 604. *Statistics and Historical Comparison*, GoVTRACK, https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/statistics [https://perma.cc/3GZG-PGUY].

⁴⁹ See Wayman v. Southard, 23 U.S. (10 Wheat.) 1, 43 (1825) ("The line has not been exactly drawn which separates those important subjects, which must be entirely regulated by the legislature itself, from those of less interest, in which a general provision may be made, and power given to those who are to act under such general provisions to fill up the details."). For a version of the nondelegation doctrine that would apply a stricter version than Chief Justice Marshall's test as to the regulation of private rights, see Michael B. Rappaport, A Two Tiered and Categorical Approach to the Nondelegation Doctrine, AM. ENTER. INST. (forthcoming 2021).

⁵⁰ See Stephen G. Breyer, Richard B. Stewart, Cass R. Sunstein, Adrian Vermeule & Michael E. Herz, Administrative Law and Regulatory Policy: Problems, Text, and Cases 56 (8th ed. 2017).

This deliberative process involving diverse views helps protect against polarization and extreme policies.⁵¹

But with its broadest delegations, Congress fails to fulfill the requirement of even setting the core objectives of legislation, telling agencies instead to make rules in "the public interest" without further defining that term.⁵² Or Congress directs an agency to pursue an objective stated at a high level of generality, such as promoting the public health, without indicating how much harm is consistent with protecting the public health.⁵³

The large number of vague delegations to the executive branch aggrandizes the power of the President.⁵⁴ It is his or her appointees who will determine what constitutes the public interest or the public health.⁵⁵ This empowerment of the President leads to more extreme political outcomes than would be reached if the decision were made in legislation.⁵⁶

When federal rules are enacted by Congress, they tend to be relatively moderate. Legislative policy is moderated most dramatically when the federal government is divided—that is, when more than one party controls the House, the Senate, and the Presidency.⁵⁷ Legislation will then only be enacted through

⁵¹ See Sunstein, supra note 5, at 75.

⁵² For instance, the FCC has authority to regulate wireless communications in the "public interest" or "public convenience, interest, or necessity" in Title III of the 1934 Communications Act. *See*, *e.g.*, 47 U.S.C. §§ 301, 303, 307(a), 309(a), 310(d), 311(b)–(c)(3), 315(a), 319(c).

⁵³ See M. Elizabeth Magill, Agency Choice of Policymaking Form, 71 U. CHI. L. REV. 1383, 1420 (2004) (noting that many delegations are broad enough to allow agencies to reach a wide range of results depending on the tradeoffs they make). For instance, the Clean Air Act requires EPA to promulgate national ambient air quality standards ("NAAQS") for each air pollutant identified by the agency as meeting certain statutory criteria. See Clean Air Act §§ 108–09, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7408–09. For each pollutant, EPA sets a "primary standard"—a concentration level "requisite to protect the public health" with an "adequate margin of safety"—and a "secondary standard"—a level "requisite to protect the public welfare." Id. § 7409(b).

⁵⁴See Ernest A. Young, Federalism as a Check on Executive Authority: State Public Litigation, Executive Authority, and Political Polarization, 22 Tex. Rev. L. & Pol. 305, 310 (2018) (delegation aggrandizes the power of the President at the expense of the States and legislature).

⁵⁵The President may exercise directive power over delegations through his or her supervisory powers at least unless Congress has forbidden that exercise. *See* Elena Kagan, *Presidential Administration*, 114 HARV. L. REV. 2245, 2246 (2001) (describing and defending such a practice).

⁵⁶ William P. Marshall, *Eleven Reasons Why Presidential Power Inevitably Expands and Why It Matters*, 88 B.U. L. REV. 505, 511, 519 (2008) (describing how presidential power inevitably expands as precedents build and how polarization leaves that power unchecked).

⁵⁷ See id. at 519.

cross-party compromise. And divided government is the ordinary state of affairs, existing nearly three quarters of the time for the last forty years.⁵⁸

But even when government is not divided, it is difficult for the majority to get its way without compromise between the majority and minority. One reason is the constitutional requirement of bicameralism. As the political scientists James Curry and Frances Lee observe, "The two chambers' different methods of apportionment, election, and internal procedure often frustrate bicameral agreement." Second, members of Congress often have electoral incentives to maintain a distance from their party as a kind of insurance policy. Creating an independent reputation gives them a basis for voter support other than party. Finally, the Senate filibuster also contributes to the need for compromise even when government is not formally divided between the parties by making sixty votes necessary for most legislation. It is very rare for a party to control sixty Senate seats (having occurred only for two of the last forty years).

Consider, for instance, the balance of power that confronts President Biden in the 117th Congress. The Senate is evenly divided, and the Democrats must rely on the Vice President's vote to wield majority power. Even with this slight advantage, they have reached a power sharing agreement with the Republicans that requires committees with equal numbers of Democratic and Republican members, limitations on the majority leader's power, and extra rights for the minority leader.⁶⁴ Moreover, the pivotal vote on legislation would be that of Joe Manchin, a moderate Senator who must face reelection in the conservative state of West Virginia.⁶⁵

⁵⁸ Divided government existed for twenty-nine of the last forty years. *See Party Government Since 1857*, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, https://history.house.gov/Institution/Presidents-Coinciding/Party-Government/ [https://perma.cc/ERG6-Y9WE].

⁵⁹ James M. Curry & Frances E. Lee, The Limits of Party: Congress and Lawmaking in a Polarized Era 12 (2020).

 $^{^{60}}$ Id.

⁶¹ *Id.* at 13.

⁶² See Catherine Fisk & Erwin Chemerinsky, *The Filibuster*, 49 STAN. L. REV. 181, 182 (1997) (noting that sixty votes are necessary to pass most legislation in the Senate).

⁶³ See Party Division, U.S. SENATE, https://www.senate.gov/history/partydiv.htm [https://perma.cc/JN6G-RNCH] (showing party division in the Senate). The Democrats had a sixty-vote supermajority for a little more than one year until Scott Brown was elected in a special election to replace Edward Kennedy who had died. See Michael Cooper, G.O.P. Senate Victory Stuns Democrats, N.Y. TIMES (Jan. 19, 2010), https://www.nytimes.com/2010/01/20/us/politics/20election.html [https://perma.cc/T5SM-D5BE].

⁶⁴ See Katherine Tully-McManus & Chris Cioffi, Democrats Claim Gavel as Senate Adopts Organizing Resolution, ROLL CALL (Feb. 3, 2021), https://www.rollcall.com/2021/02/03/democrats-claim-gavels-as-senate-adopts-organizing-resolution/ [https://perma.cc/FR7P-3F9A] (detailing an agreement on rules between Democrats and Republicans within the 117th Congress's divided Senate, which imposed equal number of Republicans and Democrats on committees, equal funding for majority and minority staffs, and restrictions on the majority leader's ability to limit the amendments Senators can offer to legislation).

⁶⁵ See Walter Shapiro, Moderate Democrats Rule Washington Now, NEW REPUBLIC (Jan. 6, 2021), https://newrepublic.com/article/160806/moderate-democrats-rule-washington-

While the House of Representatives will be controlled by the Democratic Party, here the margin is the very narrow, with 222 Democrats to 213 Republicans. 66 That close division empowers both Democratic and Republican moderates in the House, because they will be often needed to assemble majorities. Moreover, after an election in which the House majority lost a substantial number of seats, factional fighting has emerged between the party's left and more moderate wings. 67 This development is also likely to moderate policy, since moderate Democrats will want to be seen as having a substantial effect on policy. Moreover, the Democratic leadership will be likely attentive to their concerns, since moderates tend to hail from swing districts that will be closely contested at the next election.

In contrast, President Biden, like the Presidents before him, will likely promulgate more extreme policies than those that would be produced by legislative compromises.⁶⁸ A President must be nominated by a primary electorate that is composed largely of members of his or her own party. Moreover, primary voters tend be more ideologically extreme than voters in the general electorate.⁶⁹ Consequently, rather than reflecting the views of the median voter of the electorate, Presidents are more likely to reflect the views of the median voter of their party, and because of the primary electorate, could possibly reflect the views of even more extreme voters.⁷⁰ While presidential

now [https://perma.cc/78EY-VB7H] (describing how Joe Manchin and other moderates, like Jon Tester, control the balance of power in the Senate).

66 As of this writing, the margin is 221 to 211. But there are three vacancies in the House, two from Louisiana, where one is a safe Democratic seat, and one is a safe Republican seat. See Marina Villeneuve, Judge Rules Republican Tenney Won Last Open US House Race, ASSOCIATED PRESS (Feb. 6, 2021), https://apnews.com/article/new-york-courts-elections-house-elections-2e022d809a56d043df42c578faee0214 (on file with the Ohio State Law Journal); Stephanie Akin, Louisiana Special Elections Draw Crowds Seeking Richmond and Letlow Seats, ROLL CALL (Jan. 22, 2021), https://www.rollcall.com/2021/01/22/lousiana-special-elections-draw-crowds-seeking-richmond-and-letlow-seats/ [https://perma.cc/HA5L-XB9A]. The other vacancy is in New York where certification has not yet taken place, but the Republican is leading and very likely to win. See Steve Howe, Y22: Tenney Leads but Final Results on Hold, OBSERVER-DISPATCH (Feb. 2, 2021), https://www.uticaod.com/story/news/2021/02/01/ny-22-tenney-leads-brindisi-final-results-hold/433 9243001/ [https://perma.cc/8QAX-GD6X].

⁶⁷ See Luke Broadwater & Nicholas Fandos, *Amid Tears and Anger, House Democrats Promise 'Deep Dive' on Election Losses*, N.Y. TIMES (Nov. 7, 2020), https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/05/us/house-democrats-election-losses.html [https://perma.cc/FBK7-V6UF] (recounting angry divisions between Democratic party's left and more moderate wings).

⁶⁸ See Michael A. Bailey, Comparable Preference Estimates Across Time and Institutions for the Court, Congress, and Presidency, 51 Am. J. Pol. Sci. 433, 444 (2007) (finding substantial divergence between the preferences of presidents and median legislators).

⁶⁹ Michael S. Kang, *Sore Loser Laws and Democratic Contestation*, 99 GEO. L.J. 1013, 1020–21 (2011).

⁷⁰ Political scientist David King of Harvard University has well described the factors that have led to this situation. *See* David C. King, *Who's Partying?*, USA TODAY (Aug. 11,

candidates do attempt to reach out to the median voter during the general election, they remain concerned to turn out their base and thus often make commitments that do not reflect majoritarian sentiment.⁷¹ Consequently, the last nine elected Presidents appear to have reflected the median views of their party more than the median views of the electorate.⁷²

In the past, it might have been argued that the relative extremism of the President compared to the legislative process would make little difference to the decision-making of the administrative state, because administrative outputs were largely dictated by science. The idea that public administration can be separated from politics is a trope that goes back to the beginning of the progressive era.⁷³ In 1887, Woodrow Wilson, then a professor of political science at Bryn Mawr, wrote a famous paper arguing that administration could be cabined from the vicissitudes of electoral politics because it could follow a scientific logic rather than ideology or interest.⁷⁴ Within administration, experts would deliver regulations for the public good from the conveyor belt of science.⁷⁵ But this scientific model of administration has been largely abandoned. Experts do not always agree on the science. ⁷⁶ Moreover, the data are often not clear enough themselves to dictate policy.⁷⁷ Value judgment are

2000), https://usatoday30.usatoday.com/news/opinion/columnists/politics101/pol1.htm [https:// perma.cc/DVX6-QLTU].

⁷¹ The so-called "securing the base strategy" has received much attention both in the press, see for example, Ronald Brownstein, Bush Aims to Solidify His Base, L.A. TIMES (Aug. 22, 2004), https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-2004-aug-22-na-strategy22story.html [https://perma.cc/BQL7-2UVY], and in academic commentary, see for example, Morris P. Fiorina, Whatever Happened to the Median Voter?, at 2–3 (Oct. 2, 1999), http://web.stanford.edu/~mfiorina/Fiorina%20Web%20Files/MedianVoterPaper.pdf (on file with the Ohio State Law Journal).

⁷² See Larry M. Bartels, *Failure to Converge: Presidential Candidates, Core Partisans*, and the Missing Middle in American Politics, 667 ANNALS AM. ACAD. POL. & SOC. SCI. 143, 145-46 (2016) (showing that presidential candidates between 1980 and 2016 have been as ideologically extreme as their party's base and sometimes more so); see also Matthew C. Stephenson, Optimal Political Control of the Bureaucracy, 107 MICH. L. REV. 53, 83 (2008) ("The Republican Party and Republican presidents are notably more conservative than the median voter, while the Democratic Party and Democratic presidents are notably more liberal ").

⁷³ See generally Woodrow Wilson, The Study of Administration, 2 Pol. Sci. Q. 197 (1887). ⁷⁴ Id.

⁷⁵ *Id.* at 201.

⁷⁶ Emily Hammond Meazell, Super Deference, the Science Obsession, and Judicial Review as Translation of Agency Science, 109 MICH. L. REV. 733, 745 (2011) (explaining that experts can disagree even given the same data).

⁷⁷ Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of the U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 52 (1983) ("It is not infrequent that the available data do not settle a regulatory issue, and the agency must then exercise its judgment in moving from the facts and probabilities on the record to a policy conclusion."); see DAVID L. FAIGMAN, LEGAL ALCHEMY: THE USE AND MISUSE OF SCIENCE IN THE LAW 181-82 (1999) (arguing that science alone cannot draw the lines).

central to choosing policies, particularly when administrative agencies enjoy substantial delegated power.⁷⁸ Agency discretion is also influenced by the interest groups of the President's party.⁷⁹ While notice and comment rulemaking attempts to assure deliberative rationality in the executive, it is not thought ultimately to much constrain a President who is well legally advised on the substance of politically salient issues. These are the kind of matters that are likely polarizing.

Thus, it is no surprise that in the modern era administrative rules change dramatically from one administration to the next. 80 The Obama administration's FCC imposed strong net neutrality rules. 81 The Trump administration's FCC repealed them. 82 The Obama administration imposed strict fuel economy limits on vehicles. 83 The Trump administration tried to roll these back. 84 The Obama administration claimed discretion under the immigration laws to give work permits to those who came to the United States without legal permission. 85 The Trump administration not only sought to reverse this decision but claimed discretion under the immigrations laws to bar immigrants from a group of mainly Muslim-majority nations. 86 The latter back and forth was particularly polarizing as both administrations made their positions on immigration signature issues which appealed to the more extreme elements of their bases.

⁷⁸ See Harold H. Bruff, Legislative Formality, Administrative Rationality, 63 TEX. L. REV. 207, 229 (1984) (understanding value choices as often central to the exercise of administrative discretion).

⁷⁹ See, e.g., Richard B. Stewart, *Madison's Nightmare*, 57 U. CHI. L. REV. 335, 341 (1990) ("The exercise of administrative discretion is heavily influenced by organized economic and ideological interest groups").

⁸⁰ See Blake Emerson & Jon D. Michaels, Abandoning Presidential Administration: A Civic Governance Agenda to Promote Democratic Equality and Guard Against Creeping Authoritarianism, 68 UCLA L. REV. DISC. 418, 431 (2021) (arguing that "Clinton, Bush, Obama, and Trump were Fiat presidents, using executive orders and policy directives to dictate policy").

⁸¹ See Courtney Loyack, Note, Warning! Tiered Internet Ahead: Expect Delays, 94 NOTRE DAME L. REV. ONLINE 147, 155–62 (2019) (a long discussion of the history of Net Neutrality through a legal lens).

⁸² See Marguerite Reardon, *Trump Calls Net Neutrality Court Decision a 'Great Win*,' CNET (Oct. 7, 2019), https://www.cnet.com/tech/mobile/trump-calls-net-neutrality-court-decision-a-great-win/ [https://perma.cc/DMM7-SHYF].

⁸³ Brad Plumer, *How Big a Deal Is Trump's Fuel Economy Rollback? For the Climate, Maybe the Biggest Yet*, N.Y. TIMES (Aug. 3, 2018), https://www.nytimes.com/2018/08/03/climate/trump-climate-emissions-rollback.html [https://perma.cc/MLN7-JFRU].

 ⁸⁴ Id.
 85 See Seung Min Kim & Josh Gerstein, Obama Administration Takes Immigration
 Battle to Supreme Court, POLITICO (Nov. 20, 2015), https://www.politico.com/story/2015/11
 /obama-immigration-supreme-court-216100 [https://perma.cc/6JZB-WCJA].

⁸⁶ See Mallory Shelbourne, *Trump: 'DACA Is Dead Because the Democrats Didn't Care or Act*,' HILL (Apr. 2, 2018), https://thehill.com/homenews/administration/381216-trump-again-blames-democrats-for-failing-to-act-on-daca [https://perma.cc/PA2N-SR3V]; Trump v. Hawaii, 138 S. Ct. 2392, 2405 (2018).

The Obama administration sent a Dear Colleague letter to universities, with suggestions backed by the threat of losing federal funds, of how to implement rules against sexual misconduct.⁸⁷ The Trump administration revoked the letter and after notice and comment promulgated rules contrary to core suggestions of the Obama administration, as, for instance, on cross-examination of complainants.⁸⁸

While the dichotomy between the Obama and Trump administrations on such regulations is the starkest in the modern era, it is not unprecedented. The Reagan and Bush administrations imposed restrictions on abortion counseling on entities that received family planning funds.⁸⁹ The Clinton administration revoked them.⁹⁰ The Trump administration reinstated them.⁹¹

Moreover, Trump exercised executive authority to take many polarizing actions in new areas beyond reversing Obama's actions. For instance, he withdrew from the World Health Organization.⁹² Domestically, he declared a national emergency so as to reprogram funds for building his border wall.⁹³ He required every agency under his control to repeal two regulations for every new regulation that the agency issued.⁹⁴

⁸⁷ Jeannie Suk Gersen, *Assessing Betsy DeVos's Proposed Rules on Title IX and Sexual Assault*, NEW YORKER (Feb. 1, 2019), https://www.newyorker.com/news/our-columnists/assessing-betsy-devos-proposed-rules-on-title-ix-and-sexual-assault [https://perma.cc/5CV5-2SBN].

⁸⁸ Greta Anderson, *U.S. Publishes New Regulations on Campus Sexual Assault*, INSIDE HIGHER ED. (May 7, 2020), https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/05/07/education-department-releases-final-title-ix-regulations [https://perma.cc/669V-P8FZ].

⁸⁹ Robert Roberts, *The Judicial Response to the Presidential Polarization of the Administrative State*, 49 AM. REV. PUB. ADMIN. 3, 10 (2019) ("In 1989, the administration of President George H. W. Bush issued new regulations prohibiting any organization receiving Title IX family planning funds from providing clients information about abortions. . . . The abortion 'gag rule' became a political football with the Democratic administrations repealing the rule and Republican administration putting the rule back into effect.").

⁹⁰Nikita Biryukov, Emma Margolin & Ari Melber, *Trump Reinstates, Broadens Reagan-Era Anti-Abortion Policy*, NBC NEWS (Jan. 24, 2017), https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/trump-reinstates-reagan-era-anti-abortion-policy-n710081 [https://perma.cc/MK5C-67YA]; *see also* Roberts, *supra* note 89, at 10.

⁹¹ Roberts, *supra* note 89, at 10.

⁹² Katie Rogers & Apoorva Mandavilli, *Trump Administration Signals Formal Withdrawal from W.H.O.*, N.Y. TIMES (July 7, 2020), https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/07/us/politics/coronavirus-trump-who.html [https://perma.cc/QHE4-4JD7].

⁹³ Exec. Order No. 13,767, 82 Fed. Reg. 8793, 8793 (Jan. 25, 2017); see also Peter Baker, Trump Declares a National Emergency and Provokes a Constitutional Clash, N.Y. TIMES (Feb. 15, 2019), https://www.nytimes.com/2019/02/15/us/politics/national-emergency-trump.html [https://perma.cc/L877-2UMP] (quoting Trump as remarking, "We're going to confront the national security crisis on our southern border, and we're going to do it one way or the other It's an invasion We have an invasion of drugs and criminals coming into our country" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

⁹⁴ Exec. Order No. 13,771, 82 Fed. Reg. 9339, 9339 (Jan. 30, 2017).

Moreover, the unilateral use of presidential power is very likely to continue in a Biden administration on the very same issues that divided Presidents Obama and Trump. President-elect Biden will likely use the FCC to restore the Obama net neutrality rules. Similarly, he will likely reimpose fuel economy standards of the kind the Trump revoked and undertake many other far reaching executive actions on the environment. Biden has promised to reinstate the Obama administration program for children who came to the United States in violation of immigration laws and were protected by the Obama orders. He has vowed to revoke the Trump administration order under Title IX that gave more due process rights to those accused of campus sexual assault. There is even talk among his supporters of forgiving student loans by executive order.

This administrative process of presidentially directed unilateral action effectively transforms the original separation of powers. In the original system, it was Congress who wrote the rules and then the President who had an opportunity to veto them. But now unilateralism reverses the relation between the branches, because the President and his agents can enact their rules into law, *unless* Congress passes legislation blocking the action.¹⁰⁰ Moreover, under

⁹⁵ Amy Scott, *Bringing Back Net Neutrality Rules Is High on Biden's Tech Agenda*, MARKETPLACE (Nov. 10, 2020), https://www.marketplace.org/shows/marketplace-tech/bringing-back-net-neutrality-rules-is-high-on-bidens-tech-agenda [https://perma.cc/7WBG-MNEU].

⁹⁶Ben Foldy, *In Biden, Detroit Gets a 'Car Guy' with Electrical Vehicles on His Mind*, WALL ST. J. (Nov. 9, 2020), https://www.wsj.com/articles/in-biden-detroit-gets-a-car-guy-with-electric-vehicles-on-his-mind-11604923200 (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*).

⁹⁷ Katelyn Burns, *Biden Plans on Swiftly Rolling Back Some Trump Policies with Executive Orders*, Vox (Nov. 8, 2020), https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2020/11/8/21555185/biden-plans-roll-back-trump-policies-president-early-executive-orders (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*).

⁹⁸ Jeremy Bauer-Wolf, *Biden Said He Wants to Undo DeVos' Title IX Rule. How Would He Replace It?*, HIGHER ED DIVE (Oct. 28, 2020), https://www.highereddive.com/news/biden-said-he-wants-to-undo-devos-title-ix-rule-how-would-he-replace-it/587853/ [https://perma.cc/KM6V-44X2]. To be sure, the Biden Administration has so far proceeded cautiously, perhaps because of judicial decisions that held that tribunals organized under the Obama era rules violated due process. *See, e.g.*, Doe v. Baum, 903 F.3d 575, 585–86 (6th Cir. 2018) (holding that student's due process claim could survive summary judgment and suggesting that undue pressure from the Department of Education interfered with due process). But Biden has signaled his continued support for moving toward the Obama era rules, insofar as it is legally possible, by appointing the same official, Catherine Lhamon, who oversaw Title IX in the Obama administration, to the same position in his administration. *See* Madeleine Ngo, *Biden's Pick for Education Dept.'s Civil Rights Chief Squeaks Through Senate*, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 20, 2021), https://www.nytimes.com/2021/10/20/us/politics/lhamon-bideneducation-senate.html [https://perma.cc/27BM-EM32] (discussing her controversial reappointment).

⁹⁹ Kery Murakami, *Groups Call on Biden to Cancel Student Debt*, INSIDE HIGHER ED (Nov. 19, 2020), https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/11/19/biden-urged-cancel-student-debt [https://perma.cc/67S5-2WUN].

¹⁰⁰ See Saikrishna Bangalore Prakash, The Age of the Winning Executive: The Case of Donald J. Trump, 134 HARV. L. REV. F. 141, 162–63 (2020) ("To speak of executive

unilateralism, the President enjoys tremendous power to protect his regulations from being overturned by congressional action, because the President can veto such congressional action. The President can veto any such legislation that seeks to overturn his rules. Because overriding the veto takes a two-third majority, the President can generally win simply by relying on the most stalwart and extreme members of his party. Eight of nine bills vetoed by President Trump, none of which were overridden, represented unsuccessful efforts by congressional majorities to reverse actions he took under broad delegations. ¹⁰¹ Such congressional impotence in the face of unilateralism shows how polarized and extreme policies result from a disempowered Congress.

Significantly, this unilateral structure for making binding rules has the problematic feature of polarizing another institution—the judiciary. Because Congress has no effective power to prevent the executive's rules from going into effect, the focus naturally shifts to blocking power of the judiciary, because courts can still enjoin the rules on statutory or constitutional grounds. As a result, presidents have more incentive to place their partisans on the courts both so that the President's rules are more likely to survive challenge and so that a future administration of the opposing party will have more difficulty putting its rules into effect. ¹⁰² Indeed, the President may well be concerned that a future president of the opposing party may repeal his or her rules. Thus, the rules the President saves by polarizing judicial appointments may well be his or her own.

This power of presidential unilateralism to cause judicial polarization illustrates how presidential unilateralism can transform the entire structure of government. Indeed, this tendency toward judicial polarization begets a further spiral of polarization that additionally erodes institutional constraints. First, given their increased importance, judicial nominees became subject to

discretion with respect to the enforcement of congressional laws is to unduly minimize the latitude that Presidents currently enjoy. Instead it is best to regard the modern Executive as enjoying a parallel lawmaking authority to supplement, and in some cases supersede, congressional laws. This authority arises from outright delegations of legislative power, for the power to create rules is in many instances a power to legislate." (emphasis omitted)).

¹⁰¹ *Id.* at 163. At the time Prakash wrote the President had vetoed only eight bills. *Id.* Subsequently, he also vetoed the defense authorization bill, which was not principally an effort to reverse unilateral actions. *See* Kristina Peterson, Andrew Restuccia & Lindsay Wise, *Trump Vetoes Defense Policy Bill; Covid-19 Aid in Limbo*, WALL ST. J. (Dec. 23, 2020), https://www.wsj.com/articles/covid-19-aid-package-in-limbo-after-trumps-surprisedemand-to-boost-direct-payments-11608739678?mod=hp_lead_pos1 (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*).

102 We do not disagree that the President always has some interest in putting jurists of his ideological ilk on the Courts. But the President generally has many considerations to balance as well: such as pleasing Senators in the relevant states, rewarding supporters, including those are not the most ideologically aggressive, and considering various demographic factors, like race, ethnicity and gender. See, e.g., John C. Yoo, Choosing Justices: A Political Appointments Process and the Wages of Judicial Supremacy, 98 MICH. L. REV. 1436, 1443 (2000) (describing such ideological factors in Supreme Court nominations of the past).

_

unprecedented filibusters.¹⁰³ Then filibusters over judicial confirmations of lower court justices were eliminated.¹⁰⁴ Not surprisingly, the main impetus for removing them from lower court nominations was to make is easier for the President (Barak Obama) to get his nominees appointed to the District of Columbia Circuit, the most important lower court for assessing the legality of an administration's rules.¹⁰⁵ Next, a Supreme Court nominee was not given a hearing or a vote by Senate of the opposing party to the President.¹⁰⁶ Then the filibuster over Supreme Court nominees was eliminated to assure the President and the Senate could get their preferred nominee confirmed.¹⁰⁷ More recently, presidential candidates have called for enlarging the Court and packing it with members of their own party.¹⁰⁸

Besides contributing to the polarization of the judiciary, the often largely unbounded delegation of power to administrative agencies strongly contributes to extreme policies that then become an object of anger and polarization.¹⁰⁹

¹⁰³ See Charles Tiefer & Kathleen Clark, Deliberation's Demise: The Rise of One-Party Rule in the Senate, 24 ROGER WILLIAMS U. L. REV. 46, 67 (2019).

¹⁰⁴ William G. Dauster, *The Senate in Transition or How I Learned to Stop Worrying and Love the Nuclear Option*, 19 N.Y.U. J. LEGIS. & PUB. POL'Y 631, 645–46 (2016).

¹⁰⁵ See Brad Plumer, The D.C. Circuit Is the Court at the Center of the Filibuster Fight. Here's Why It Matters., WASH. POST (Nov. 21, 2013), https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/wonk/wp/2013/11/21/the-d-c-circuit-court-was-at-the-center-of-the-filibuster-fight-heres-why-it-matters/ (on file with the Ohio State Law Journal).

¹⁰⁶ See Carl Tobias, Commentary, Confirming Supreme Court Justices in a Presidential Election Year, 94 WASH. U. L. REV. 1089, 1089–90 (2017) (recounting the inability of Merrick Garland, the nominee of President Barack Obama, to obtain a Senate vote).

¹⁰⁷ Matt Flegenheimer, Senate Republicans Deploy 'Nuclear Option' to Clear Path for Gorsuch, N.Y. TIMES (Apr. 6, 2017), https://www.nytimes.com/2017/04/06/us/politics/neil-gorsuch-supreme-court-senate.html [https://perma.cc/DS2Y-C9DP].

¹⁰⁸ Burgess Everett & Marianne Levine, *2020 Dems Warm to Expanding Supreme Court*, POLITICO (Mar. 18, 2019), https://www.politico.com/story/2019/03/18/2020-democrats-supreme-court-1223625 [https://perma.cc/U8AM-9UQM].

¹⁰⁹ It is true that the President has less formal control over independent agencies, like the Federal Communications Commission, than executive agencies whose heads the President can fire at will. But the President has many mechanisms other than removal to encourage those agencies to follow his or her policies, such as his appointments, the prospect of higher office for his appointees, executive orders, and budget requests on behalf of the agency. Lisa Schultz Bressman & Robert B. Thompson, The Future of Agency Independence, 63 VAND. L. REV. 599, 632-48 (2010) (discussing such mechanisms in the context of financial agencies); see Neal Devins & David E. Lewis, Not-So Independent Agencies: Party Polarization and the Limits of Institutional Design, 88 B.U. L. REV. 459, 469-77 (2008) (demonstrating empirically that the President influences agencies through appointments); Glen O. Robinson, Independent Agencies: Form and Substance in Executive Prerogative, 1988 DUKE L.J. 238, 243-46 (describing mechanisms of influence); see also Kirti Datla & Richard L. Revesz, Deconstructing Independent Agencies (and Executive Agencies), 98 CORNELL L. REV. 769, 773 (2013) (the difference between executive agencies and independent agencies is not a dichotomy but a continuum). As a result, the policies of independent agencies are not much less reflective of the President's preferences than those of the executive agencies. See Susan Bartlett Foote, Independent Agencies Under Attack: A

Sadly, there is no reason to expect that the practice of delegation will easily end, because members of Congress often benefit from giving up their own power to pass regulations. Through broad delegations, they can take credit for providing benefits to the people and, when necessary, avoid blame by criticizing the rules that agencies made. 111

Unfortunately, the Supreme Court has let members of Congress engage in this accountability avoidance game. It has not enforced the Constitution's requirement that only Congress exercise legislative power, but has permitted the power to be delegated to executive branch agencies. ¹¹² To be sure, the Court has held that these delegations must contain an "intelligible principle," but it has defined this test so leniently that the Court has not struck down a delegation since the New Deal. ¹¹³ It regularly upholds the kind of permissive delegations that allow the promulgation of radically different regulations depending on an administration's ideology. ¹¹⁴

Moreover, the Court has exacerbated the problem with doctrines of its own creation. In the famous *Chevron* case, it ruled that courts should often defer to an agency's interpretation of its own statute. Unless "Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue," the Court defers to the agency's statutory interpretation. Its interpretation will then be upheld so long as it is "reasonable." Chevron is one of the most cited cases of all time and has been used regularly to uphold agency action. The judiciary thus has in effect delegated some of its core power of legal interpretation to agencies, which further increases the authority of the President to reach extreme results.

_

Skeptical View of the Importance of the Debate, 1988 DUKE L.J. 223, 237. They are likely to be closer to the median voter of the political party of the President than the median voter.

¹¹⁰ See Peter H. Aranson, Ernest Gellhorn & Glen O. Robinson, A Theory of Legislative Delegation, 68 CORNELL L. REV. 1, 64 (1982) (discussing how Congress can shift blame from themselves for unpopular policies).

¹¹¹ *Id*

¹¹² See Richard B. Stewart, *The Reformation of American Administrative Law*, 88 HARV. L. REV. 1667, 1675–76 (1975).

¹¹³ See Gabriel Clark, Note, *The Weak Nondelegation Doctrine and* Am. Trucking Ass'n v. EPA, 2000 BYU L. REV. 627, 634–38 (providing a history of the non-delegation doctrine used by the Supreme Court since the New Deal).

¹¹⁴ See BREYER, STEWART, SUNSTEIN, VERMEULE & HERZ, supra note 50, at 71 (noting that no statute has been invalidated on non-delegation grounds since A.L.A. Schechter Poultry Corp. v. United States, 295 U.S. 495 (1935)).

¹¹⁵ Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Nat. Res. Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 844 (1984).

¹¹⁶ *Id.* at 842–43.

¹¹⁷ Id. at 840.

¹¹⁸ Thomas J. Miles & Cass R. Sunstein, *Do Judges Make Regulatory Policy? An Empirical Investigation of* Chevron, 73 U. CHI. L. REV. 823, 823 (2006) (labeling *Chevron* the "most cited case in modern public law").

¹¹⁹ See id. at 825–26; Thomas J. Miles & Cass R. Sunstein, The Real World of Arbitrariness Review, 75 U. CHI. L. REV. 761, 767 (2008).

Chevron also empowers agencies to switch interpretations when administrations change, ¹²⁰ further reign is given to polarized outcomes.

Similar considerations apply to the *Auer* doctrine, under which the Court requires the judiciary to defer to an agency's interpretation of its own regulations. In *Auer v. Robbins*, the Court ruled that agencies enjoyed strong deference when interpreting their own regulations in even more circumstances than agencies enjoy as to *Chevron* deference.¹²¹ Moreover, *Auer* allows agencies from one administration to the next to change the meaning of rules by unilateral interpretation. While the Court recently cut back on *Auer* in *Kisor v. Wilkie*, the *Auer-Kisor* doctrine still confers significant deference on agencies.¹²²

B. Congressional Solutions

One possible solution to extremism and polarization is structural change initiated by the legislature. Congress should take back power from the agencies by rewriting statutes so that delegations are narrower. Congress is not limited to enacting this reform through a laborious statute by statute process. Congress could instead pass legislation that retrieves its authority across the board to make the final decisions on major rules, like net neutrality or clean air standards that may divide the polity.

Congress could model such legislation on an act currently before it, the Regulations from the Executive in Need of Scrutiny (REINS) Act. ¹²³ Under the REINS Act, agencies would recommend "major" rules to Congress but the rules would not take effect unless they were enacted on a vote by both Houses and signed by the President. ¹²⁴ Standing procedures of both Houses would force updown votes on major rules, under specified timelines and without a Senate filibuster. ¹²⁵ A rule is defined in the Act as major if it would likely result in "an annual cost on the economy of \$100,000,000 or more, . . . major increases in costs or prices," or "significant adverse effects on competition, employment,"

¹²⁰ Indeed, the regulation at issue in *Chevron* itself was an example of such a change. Moreover, the Court has said that an agency can change its interpretation from one reached by a Court so long as the judicial interpretation was not clearly compelled by the statute. *See* Nat'l Cable & Telecomms. Ass'n v. Brand X Internet Servs., 545 U.S. 967, 981 (2005).

¹²¹ See Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 461 (1997).

¹²² Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2416–18 (2019).

¹²³ Regulations from the Executive in Need of Scrutiny Act of 2017, H.R. 26, 115th Cong. (2017). Our purpose here is not to endorse every detail of the act, which could be substantially improved. *See* Michael B. Rappaport, *Classical Liberal Administrative Law in a Progressive World, in* THE CAMBRIDGE HANDBOOK OF CLASSICAL LIBERAL THOUGHT 105, 123–29 (M. Todd Henderson ed., 2018).

¹²⁴ H.R. 26 § 3 (proposing to amend 5 U.S.C. § 801(b)(1) to state that a "major rule shall not take effect unless the Congress enacts a joint resolution of approval").

¹²⁵ See Jonathan R. Siegel, *The REINS Act and the Struggle to Control Agency Rulemaking*, 16 N.Y.U. J. LEGIS. & PUB. POL'Y 131, 147 (2013) (describing procedural changes).

or other specified economic matters. ¹²⁶ In most recent years, the Congressional Research Service has estimated that fifty to seventy rules would be classified as major. ¹²⁷

The Act would change administrative law, substantially flipping the roles of Congress and the executive so that the executive would recommend major regulations and Congress would enact them. ¹²⁸ Congress would thus reclaim some of the broad power it has delegated to agencies. As a result, regulations would become more moderate because they would have to obtain the support of legislators from both parties under divided government (and even under undivided government, from legislators in the middle of the ideological spectrum). ¹²⁹ They would also be less likely to make a 180-degree turn between administrations, as major changes would need congressional approval.

To be sure, even a proposal modeled on the REINS Act would be only a second-best solution to the problems created by broad delegation. The regulation voted upon would not be forged in a congressional give-and-take but instead formulated by an agency. That difference would limit the opportunity for compromise and buy-in from many legislative factions that congressional drafting promotes. Still, an agency would likely consider the spectrum of congressional opinion and draft the regulation in light of that opinion to assure passage. 130

¹²⁶ H.R. 26 § 3.

¹²⁷ MAEVE P. CAREY & CURTIS W. COPELAND, CONG. RSCH. SERV., R41651, REINS ACT: Number and Types of Rules in "Major Rules" in Recent Years 4–5 (2011).

¹²⁸ Siegel, *supra* note 125, at 150 (seeing the REINS Act as restoring powers that Congress delegated).

¹²⁹ There is some prospect of passing a cross cutting act, like the REINS Act. By analogy, Congress has enacted the Congressional Review Act (CRA), 5 U.S.C. §§ 801–08, which allows Congress under fast-track procedures to disapprove important regulations of the executive passed within sixty legislative days. But the CRA has limited scope because it requires, as constitutionally it must for congressional disapproval to be enacted into law, either Presidential approval or an override of a Presidential veto. See BREYER, STEWART, SUNSTEIN, VERMEULE & HERZ, supra note 50, at 95. But the regulation to be voted on is generally issued by the President's Administration. Thus, the President will normally veto the disapproval, which must then get a two-thirds majority in each house to be enacted. See id. It is not therefore a surprise that the CRA has been successfully employed only on regulations issued at the end of a Presidency that is followed by a Presidency of the opposite party.

¹³⁰ In part, because of these limitations, we do not a endorse a recent recommendation by the distinguished political scientists William Howell and Terry Moe that would give the President the ability to propose legislation and get an up or down vote in both the House and Senate. See WILLIAM G. HOWELL & TERRY M. MOE, PRESIDENTS, POPULISM, AND THE CRISIS OF DEMOCRACY 175–81 (2020). That legal regime would be equivalent to providing authority equivalent to what agencies would have under proposals covered by the REINS Act, but for any proposal, regardless of whether an executive branch agency had been given rulemaking authority in the area. And that authority would be in addition to the authority that agencies under presidential control enjoy to promulgate rules under broad delegations of administrative power.

Another congressional reform would involve eliminating *Chevron* and *Auer* deference by statute. *Chevron* is a statutory interpretation doctrine, and Congress has substantial control over the legal rules by which statutes are interpreted.¹³¹ *Auer* is a doctrine for interpreting agency regulations, and Congress similarly has control over the doctrines by which agency regulations should be interpreted.¹³²

C. Judicial Solutions

But even if Congress did not act to eliminate the *Chevron* and *Auer* doctrines, the Court could also encourage moderation by doing so on its own authority. Here it could build on some of the steps that the Court and the federal judiciary are already taking to cabin these doctrines.

In the recent case of *King v. Burwell*, Chief Justice John Roberts's opinion for the Court clarified that *Chevron* deference would not apply to major questions—that is, questions of "deep 'economic and political significance' that [are] central to this statutory scheme." While Roberts suggested that Congress would not want *Chevron* to apply to such major questions, another reason for the major questions doctrine is that it construes statutes to avoid constitutionally problematic delegations. Applied to major questions,

This proposal would represent a vast increase in the authority of the President and thus the ability of the President to get relatively extreme proposals through Congress. This effect would be most pronounced when government is not divided because the elimination of the filibuster would make less opportunity for bipartisan compromise. The proposal is also not limited to areas where administrative expertise is particularly useful. It would likely not dampen polarization but increase it, as the Presidency would become an even more powerful political prize. It would also make for less stable laws, as one President with unified party control could more easily entirely undo the work of the last party with unified control.

131 Nicholas Quinn Rosenkranz, Federal Rules of Statutory Interpretation, 115 HARV. L. REV. 2085, 2140 (2002) (noting that there is no general objection to statutes that mandate interpretive forms, only objections that stem from specific constitutional provisions or principles); see also Antonin Scalia, Judicial Deference to Administrative Interpretations of Law, 1989 DUKE L.J. 511, 515–16 ("The separation-of-powers justification [for the Chevron doctrine] can be rejected even more painlessly by asking one simple question: If, in the statute at issue in Chevron, Congress had specified that in all suits involving interpretation or application of the Clean Air Act the courts were to give no deference to the agency's views, but were to determine the issue de novo, would the Supreme Court nonetheless have acquiesced in the agency's views? I think the answer is clearly no, which means that it is not any constitutional impediment to 'policy-making' that explains Chevron.").

¹³² Even the plurality in *Kisor* recognizes that Congress can overrule *Auer*. Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2412 (2019). Bills have been introduced to do so. *See* H.R. 4768, 114th Cong. § 2 (2016) (proposing to amend the Administrative Procedure Act to provide that courts should "decide de novo all relevant questions of law, including the interpretation of . . . rules made by agencies").

¹³³ King v. Burwell, 135 S. Ct. 2480, 2489 (2015). The major question in that case was whether Affordable Care Act tax credits should be provided to those purchasing insurance under federal as well as state exchanges. *Id.* at 2485.

¹³⁴ Id. at 2488-89.

Chevron, as originally decided, sustains a huge delegation of legislative power to the agency, permitting the agency to interpret the essential questions about the scope of the delegation itself.¹³⁵ Thus, if the Court applies the major questions doctrine vigorously, it will also help reduce polarization. It will take away power from an administrative agency, which is likely to be relatively politically extreme. It will also reduce the opportunity for agencies to switch interpretations depending on the results of a presidential election.

In *Kisor v. Wilkie*, the majority significantly cut back on the scope of *Auer* deference. ¹³⁶ First, the Court made clear that deference to an agency's own interpretation of regulations should be reserved only for cases of genuine ambiguity—that which remains after all the tools of traditional interpretation have been applied. ¹³⁷ Second, the *Kisor* opinion stated that before deferring to an agency interpretation, a court must make "an independent inquiry into whether the character and context of the agency interpretation entitles it to controlling weight." ¹³⁸ Thus, an agency's interpretation is entitled to deference only if it is "authoritative" rather than "ad hoc." ¹³⁹ Such an interpretation must also "implicate [the agency's] substantive expertise" and reflect its "fair and considered judgment" rather than be simply a "post hoc rationalization" or create "unfair surprise." ¹⁴⁰ If the lower courts enforce these limitations, *Kisor* will narrow agencies' ability to reinterpret their regulations at will and make it more difficult for them to change their interpretations following a presidential election.

The biggest judicial blow for moderation would be to revive the nondelegation doctrine itself, forcing Congress to make more of the major policy decisions and thus empowering moderate legislators to craft compromises. There is renewed interest on the Court in revisiting that doctrine. In *Gundy v. United States*, the Supreme Court narrowly upheld the provision in the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act that delegated to the Attorney General the discretion to decide whether and to what extent to require the registration of sex offenders who have been convicted before the date of the Act's enactment. He controlling opinion represented only a plurality. Three Justices dissented, arguing for a strict version of the nondelegation doctrine. Justice Samuel Alito voted with the plurality to uphold the statute, but indicated that he would join the dissenters in reconsidering the lenient

¹³⁵ See Charles J. Cooper, *The Flaws of* Chevron *Deference*, 21 TEX. REV. L. & POL. 307, 312 (2016) (viewing *King v. Burwell* as a partial de facto revival of non-delegation doctrine).

¹³⁶ Kisor, 139 S. Ct. at 2408–24.

 $^{^{137}}$ Id. at 2415.

¹³⁸ Id. at 2416.

¹³⁹ *Id*.

¹⁴⁰ *Id.* at 2417–18.

¹⁴¹ Gundy v. United States, 139 S. Ct. 2116, 2121 (2019).

¹⁴² *Id.* at 2121.

¹⁴³ Id. at 2131.

nondelegation doctrine if a majority of the Court were to do so.¹⁴⁴ Justice Brett Kavanagh did not participate in the case but later formally stated that he was also open to tightening the standard for delegation.¹⁴⁵ Delegation's promotion of polarization is yet another argument for that reconsideration.

Our analysis of the Supreme Court's appropriate role in bringing about these changes can be understood as complementing and expanding John Hart Ely's democracy reinforcing rationale for judicial review in the new circumstances of our time. In his book, *Democracy and Distrust*, Ely saw democracy as the animating purpose of the Constitution and the key to unlocking its sound interpretation. The book was most famous for justifying many of the Warren Court's decision about constitutional rights as contributing to perfecting deliberative democracy. The But even forty years ago, Ely worried that the decline of the nondelegation doctrine undermined deliberative democracy. The Ely observed that the concern with delegation "is not that such faceless bureaucrats' necessarily do a bad job as our effective legislators. It is rather that they are neither elected nor reelected, and are controlled only spasmodically by officials who are." 149

To this general concern about the administrative state's reduction of deliberate democracy we here add and highlight the more concrete danger of the increasing polarization that delegation poses for democracy. Excessive delegation thus not only blocks the opportunity for deliberation but diminishes the culture of political give and take and that makes such deliberation fruitful. This focus also updates the support for Ely's democracy reinforcing jurisprudence, because pernicious polarization is a contemporary threat to democracy that goes beyond the failure of deliberation.¹⁵⁰

D. Objections

One possible objection to our argument is that a requirement of congressional enactment to pass regulations (or take military action or to make international agreements) would be too constraining. In our strongly polarized world, the different political parties in Congress would be unwilling and unable to reach compromises. Instead, the party in opposition to the President refuses to compromise in order to deny the President accomplishments that might enhance his or her prospects of becoming reelected. Thus, it is a perpetual campaign in that both parties are focused on winning the next election rather

¹⁴⁴ *Id.* at 2130–31 (Alito, J., concurring).

¹⁴⁵ Paul v. United States, 140 S. Ct. 342, 342 (2019) (Kavanaugh, J., concurring in denial of certiorari).

 $^{^{146}}$ John Hart Ely, Democracy and Distrust: A Theory of Judicial Review 4–7 (1980).

¹⁴⁷ *Id*. at 75–102.

¹⁴⁸ *Id.* at 132.

¹⁴⁹ *Id.* at 131.

¹⁵⁰ See infra notes 144–47 and accompanying text.

than governing by passing necessary legislation desired by the nation. In such a world, it might seem pointless to forbid government actions that cannot be taken without compromise. Instead, it would be a recipe for gridlock and inaction.

But this picture of our politics makes a fundamental mistake. It assumes that the world we live in—which has been greatly influenced by unilateralism—would continue once unilateralism has been restrained. But the same forces that cause polarization would lead to less polarization if they were eliminated.¹⁵¹

It is often difficult to imagine how dramatically a change in incentives can change behavior. We can illustrate such dramatic changes with the familiar story of a young adult who has been funded by his parents for several years. The child does not save, does not work hard, and overall is not financially responsible. When the parents are counseled to stop funding their child, they object: "He cannot take care of himself with our money. How will he be able to survive without it?"

The mistake that the parents make, of course, is to assume that the child will necessarily continue to behave irresponsibly without the funding. If the generous funding was the cause of the irresponsibility, then eliminating the funding is likely to eliminate it. Such dramatic transformations are a familiar part of our experience.

A similar result is easily imaginable if unilateralism is an important cause of polarization. In a world where no new regulations or deregulations can be enacted without congressional enactment, members of Congress and the President would face different incentives than they do now. At present, the President's party has little incentive to make compromises that will leave it worse off than it can obtain by exercising the broad delegated authority to enact rules. Why compromise if you can promulgate the regulation you desire unilaterally? But under a regime without unilateral regulatory authority, the President's party would not be able to enact any new rules on its own. This regime would provide them with a much stronger incentive to compromise than they have now.

If members of Congress could not enact new regulations or deregulations without compromising, strongly polarized behavior would impose significant costs on those members. First, members who seek to make an impact and to improve the world would soon discover that they could not have any significant effect. Second, the public, including influential interest groups, would bear costs as changes in circumstances and values require that new regulations be enacted. These costs will only increase as time passes.

These incentives are likely to cause Congress to behave differently with the existing members of Congress and under existing institutions. But these incentives might also lead Congress to change its practices if that would promote compromise. Not all legislative leaders are equally talented at partisan

¹⁵¹ This would seem to hold if unilateralism causes polarization. If it contributes to 60 percent of our polarization, then eliminating it suggests that it will eliminate 60 percent. If it only contributes to 20 percent of our polarization, then eliminating it will be less important. So, if we are right that polarization is an important cause, then it will be an important reform.

attacks and at compromise. Thus, as compromise becomes more important, partisan leaders may be replaced by compromisers.

Rules and norms that inhibit compromise might also be changed. For example, the Hastert rule, which prohibits the scheduling of a vote on a bill that is not supported by a majority of the majority party in the House, might be eliminated. Finally, if Congress required more information in order to decide how and whether to enact a compromise in an area, then it would make sense for Congress to establish institutions that could aid it, such as a Congressional Regulatory Office patterned on the Congressional Budget Office. 153

Other evidence also suggests that compromise is possible even in our current world. The political scientists James Curry and Frances Lee just this past year published a study of major legislation passed by Congress since 1985. 154 They find that most important legislation has been bipartisan, involving compromise with the minority party to gain passage. 155 Curry and Lee demonstrate that parties have incentives to compromise because without bipartisanship, every faction within the majority gains enormous leverage, risking unpopular legislation. 156 They also find that even with polarization majority parties are no more successful at enacting their priorities. 157 To the contrary, as polarization has increased, majorities find bipartisanship both necessary and possible to get legislation through Congress. 158 Curry and Lee thus show that compromise continues to be possible. Reducing the degree of presidential unilateralism will make compromise even more common. 159

¹⁵² Sarah A. Binder, *Oh 113th Congress Hastert Rule, We Hardly Knew Ye!*, BROOKINGS INST. (Jan. 17, 2013), https://www.brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2013/01/17/oh-113th-congress-hastert-rule-we-hardly-knew-ve/[https://perma.cc/CR3Z-WZAD].

¹⁵³ Congress could also react to the difficulty of passing legislation by limiting the scope of the current filibuster or weakening its force. Congress has already weakened the filibuster in its review of regulatory legislation. The Congressional Review Act gives Congress sixty legislative days to prevent a regulation from going into effect and removes that vote from the scope of the filibuster. 5 U.S.C. §§ 801–803. The proposed REINS Act discussed above requires Congress to vote on major regulations before they become effective, but that vote is filibuster free. *See supra* note 125 and accompanying text. And, of course, the Senate may choose to weaken the filibuster by decreasing the number of votes needed for cloture, as it has done before. Jeanne Shaheen, *Gridlock Rules: Why We Need Filibuster Reform in the U.S. Senate*, 50 HARV. J. ON LEGIS. 1, 5 (2013) (discussing history of changes to the filibuster rule).

¹⁵⁴ CURRY & LEE, supra note 59, at 20 (describing their data sources).

¹⁵⁵ *Id.* at 16–17.

¹⁵⁶ *Id.* at 71. Sometimes individual members of parties do as well.

¹⁵⁷ *Id.* at 72.

¹⁵⁸ Id. at 50.

¹⁵⁹ One characteristic, fear of greater congressional power, is less pressing in our era. It is often said that members of Congress are too parochial and beholden to particular constituents to focus on the good of the nation. *See, e.g.*, HOWELL & MOE, *supra* note 130, at 161 (suggesting in the traditional view that legislators are interested in "flaunting the goodies they are able to bring back home, the protections they can provide to local business and industries, [and] the local jobs and income created through their faithful efforts").

Some commentators have suggested that American politics is asymmetrically polarized with the Republican party having moved farther to the right than the Democratic party has moved to the left. 160 But regardless of whether this claim is accurate, 161 our analysis of the dangers of presidential unilateralism as well as our proposed fixes still hold. Even if the Republican party has become more extreme than the Democrat party, that difference does not change the fact that members of both parties still regard the other party's views as very far from their own. The cause of the present situation does not change how it functions. Moreover, a structure of government that promotes compromise and moves policy more to the middle will address this polarization irrespective of its cause. Thus, asymmetric polarization provides no argument against either our description of the problem of presidential polarization or our normative solutions. And even if the Republican party is more extreme now, it is impossible to predict which party will be more extreme in the future.

One argument against reducing delegation to the President and providing greater power to Congress might rest on the proposition that the Senate is unrepresentative, because it awards two Senators to every state of whatever size rather than apportioning representation by population.¹⁶² In particular, it is often

But elections are now fought on a more national basis. Rick Pildes, *Political Polarization and the Nationalization of Congressional Elections*, BALKINIZATION (Nov. 4, 2010), http://balkin.blogspot.com/2010/11/political-polarization-and.html [https://perma.cc/T5XE-Q9LR] (providing evidence for nationalization of elections). It also made the judgments of voters in primaries more ideological, making them less likely to vote for incumbents simply on the basis of local issues. PEW RSCH. CTR., *supra* note 43, at 72–78 (concluding based on the same data that the most polarized voters are the most politically active in primaries); BENJAMIN I. PAGE & MARTIN GILENS, DEMOCRACY IN AMERICA? WHAT HAS GONE WRONG AND WHAT WE CAN DO ABOUT IT 160–61 (2020) (describing importance of ideology in primaries). Thus, there is less reason to be concerned that legislation will be blocked for parochial reasons as opposed to disagreement on the merits. Congress can play its generally moderating role either through divided government or through bicameralism and the filibuster without much distorting of policy outputs for purely localist reasons.

¹⁶⁰ See, e.g., Michael J. Klarman, The Degradation of American Democracy—And the Court, 134 HARV. L. REV. 1, 159 (2020).

161 The claim that the Republican Party has become more extreme than the Democratic party is disputable. See PEW RSCH. CTR., supra note 43, at 8 (determining that thirty-eight percent of Democrats are consistently liberal whereas thirty-three percent of Republicans are consistently conservative); see also David A. Graham, Trump Is Radicalizing the Democratic Party, ATLANTIC (Oct. 27, 2017), https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2017/10/symmetric-polarization/544059/ [https://perma.cc/GHG9-LKBW] (arguing that in the Trump era parties have become symmetrically polarized). We need not resolve this factual dispute, because our arguments hold regardless of whether polarization is symmetric or asymmetric.

¹⁶² Jeffrey W. Ladewig, *One Person, One Vote, 435 Seats: Interstate Malapportionment and Constitutional Requirements*, 43 CONN. L. REV. 1125, 1133 (2011) (calling the Senate "arguably, the most malapportioned democratically-elected legislative chamber in the world").

alleged that the structure of the Senate favors the Republican party.¹⁶³ Thus, the argument would run under given the structure of the Senate, it is better to give power to the President who is more democratically representative than Congress.

But it does not appear the Senate actually substantially skews representation ideologically or favors Republicans. Of the twelve smallest states (those with either one or two representatives in Congress), six are blue states and six are red states. ¹⁶⁴ Of the ten largest states, five generally vote red and five generally vote blue. ¹⁶⁵ In the last generation (since 1990), Democrats have performed slightly better in the Senate than in the House, controlling the Senate fifteen and a half years out of thirty-two while controlling the House for twelve years out of thirty-two. ¹⁶⁶ The similar ideological composition of the House and the Senate is also suggested by the ideological proximity of their median members when a party controls both houses. ¹⁶⁷

Moreover, the Senate also has features that permits its members to act independently of party more frequently than members of the House, making the Senate a better reflection of the unfiltered popular will than the House and the Presidency. It is well known that the majority party has greater power to work its will in the House, but that Senators have more ability to act independently. 168

¹⁶³ Klarman, *supra* note 160, at 235 (stating that malapportionment in the Senate gives "massive political advantage on today's Republican Party").

¹⁶⁴ See U.S. States Ranked by Population 2021, WORLD POPULATION REV., https://worldpopulationreview.com/states [https://perma.cc/K9EW-68Q3].

¹⁶⁵ *Id.* In the last two elections for President, Georgia and Pennsylvania defected from their usual stances. *Electoral Map: Blue or Red States Since* 2000, 270TOWIN, https://www.270towin.com/content/blue-and-red-states [https://perma.cc/3PW6-TG5U].

¹⁶⁶ Party Division, U.S. SENATE, https://www.senate.gov/history/partydiv.htm [https://perma.cc/PV5M-3U52]; Party Division in the House of Representatives, 1789 to Present, U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, https://history.house.gov/Institution/Party-Divisions/Party-Divisions/ [https://perma.cc/7T8P-GSZL]. To be sure, control over the last two years depends on the Vice President's vote to break a 50-50 tie, but even if we except those years from numerator and denominator, Democrats have controlled the Senate for a slightly greater period than they have controlled the House. Votes to Break Ties in the Senate, U.S. SENATE, https://www.senate.gov/legislative/TieVotes.htm [https://perma.cc/9PBF-D8D5].

¹⁶⁷ For instance, in the 111th Congress, the last one in which Democrats controlled both houses, the median ideology score in the House was -.180 and the median in the Senate was -.213, where -1 is farthest left and 1 is farthest right. Timothy Nokken & Keith T. Poole, Rank Ordering of All Houses and Senates, K7MOA LEGACY VOTEVIEW, https://legacy.voteview.com/rankordersallcongresses.htm [https://perma.cc/L2NB-28GV]. In the last Congress in which Republicans controlled both Houses and data is available, the median House member was at .239 and the median Senate member was at .192. Id.

¹⁶⁸ Tara Leigh Grove & Neal Devins, Congress's (Limited) Power to Represent Itself in Court, 99 CORNELL L. REV. 571, 604 (2014). The reasons are various, including that the rules of the House give more power to the majority party. Id. (describing how various rules of the House reinforce the power of the majority party). Senators receive more press coverage and thus have more opportunity to gain a reputation distinct from their party. See Matthew D. McCubbins, Roger G. Noll & Barry R. Weingast, Structure and Process, Politics and Policy:

This greater power of the majority party in the House to work its will means that the House is likely to reflect the median of the majority party more than the Senate does. But it is precisely this characteristic of the Presidency that has caused significant polarization and has led to a less accurate reflection of voter preferences. Thus, because of the relative independence of its members, the Senate does a better job than the House at counteracting that presidential tendency.

IV. UNILATERAL PRESIDENTIAL AUTHORITY ABROAD

Presidentialism in war making and foreign affairs has also increased ideological polarization. Presidents of both parties have claimed the authority to conduct military actions without congressional approval. ¹⁶⁹ These actions, at the time and for many years later, become grist for political polarization.

International agreements made by the President alone without legislative consensus also can be a source of polarization. Recently, President Obama committed the United States to a major international agreement, the Paris Accord on climate change, without seeking even legislative support from Congress, let alone the greater consensus required by the mandate for two-thirds of the Senate to ratify a treaty. This controversial action started a process of political polarization, which continued with President Trump's withdrawal from the Accord. President Biden has recommitted to the Paris Accord on his first day in office. President Biden has recommitted to the Paris Accord on his first day in office.

It is not surprising that President Trump did not make any similar executive agreements himself. He has been described as a sovereigntist who wants to avoid agreements with other nations.¹⁷³ But some Republican presidents in the past have been internationalists and are likely to be so again.¹⁷⁴ Thus, such a

Administrative Arrangements and the Political Control of Agencies, 75 VA. L. REV. 431, 455 (1989) (discussing effects of greater media attention that Senators receive).

¹⁶⁹ Michael D. Ramsey & Stephen I. Vladeck, *Declare War Clause*, NAT'L CONSTITUTION CTR., https://constitutioncenter.org/interactive-constitution/interpretation/article-i/clauses/753 [https://perma.cc/YL92-HZ7R].

¹⁷⁰ Tanya Somanader, *President Obama: The United States Formally Enters the Paris Agreement*, WHITE HOUSE (Sept. 3, 2016), https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2016/09/03/president-obama-united-states-formally-enters-paris-agreement [https://perma.cc/GKY8-HAJP].

¹⁷¹ President Trump Announces, supra note 16.

¹⁷² Paris Climate Agreement, WHITE HOUSE: BRIEFING ROOM (Jan. 20, 2021), https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/01/20/paris-climate-agreement/ [https://perma.cc/EEM9-FNDK].

¹⁷³ Donald J. Trump, Remarks to the United Nations General Assembly in New York City (Sept. 19, 2017), available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/DCPD-201700658/pdf/DCPD-201700658.pdf [https://perma.cc/S59M-FFVC] (mentioning the word sovereignty twenty-one times).

¹⁷⁴ See, e.g., Harold Hongju Koh, *The Trump Administration and International Law*, 56 WASHBURN L. REV. 413, 420 (2017) (recalling that Richard Nixon and George W. Bush were strong internationalists).

substantial, binding international agreement undertaken by the presidents on their own may well presage a new mechanism of polarization that presidents of both parties will employ.

A. Military Action

The concern that the President will use the opportunity for war to increase his power goes back to the Framing. James Madison stated that "[w]ar is in fact the true nurse of executive aggrandizement... The strongest passions, and most dangerous weaknesses of the human breast; ... the honorable or venial love of fame, are all in conspiracy against the desire and duty of peace." In this section we show that unilateral war making can not only aggrandize the presidency, but increase polarization as well.

Due to the fear of a Presidential war power, the Framers subjected the President's military authority to a strong congressional check. The general consensus among scholars is that Congress, pursuant to its authority to declare war, must authorize at least any offensive military action against a foreign power. Within that consensus, there is room for debate about what exactly constitutes both "military action" and "offensive."

But Presidents now regularly claim the authority to take offensive interventions against other nations without Congress's agreement in circumstances clearly beyond the Constitution's original meaning. An Office of Legal Counsel opinion justifying the military intervention in Libya is characteristic. It concludes that congressional authorization is required only for prolonged war making:

In our view, determining whether a particular planned engagement constitutes a "war" for constitutional purposes instead requires a fact-specific assessment of the "anticipated nature, scope, and duration" of the planned military operations. This standard generally will be satisfied only by prolonged and substantial military engagements, typically involving exposure of U.S. military personnel to significant risk over a substantial period.¹⁷⁷

¹⁷⁵ 15 James Madison, "*Helvidius*" No. 4, in The Papers of James Madison 106, 108 (Thomas A. Mason, Robert A. Rutland & Jeanne K. Sisson eds., 1985).

¹⁷⁶ U.S. CONST. art. I, § 8, cl. 11. On the scholarly consensus, see Michael D. Ramsey, *Textualism and War Powers*, 69 U. CHI. L. REV. 1543, 1549 (2002).

¹⁷⁷ Authority to Use Military Force in Libya, 35 Op. O.L.C. 20, 31 (2011) (citations omitted), https://www.justice.gov/olc/opiniondocs/authority-military-use-in-libya.pdf [https://perma.cc/EZ4E-727P]. This opinion, however, was not aggressive enough for the Obama administration. Harold Koh, the State Department's legal advisor provided an opinion stating the operations in Libya did not even rise to the level of hostilities that trigged the War Powers Act. *Libya and War Powers: Hearing Before the S. Comm. on Foreign Rels.*, 112th Cong. 11–17 (2011) (statement of Harold Hongju Koh, Legal Adviser, U.S. Dept. of State), https://2009-2017.state.gov/documents/organization/167452.pdf [https://perma.cc/PD2H-VRYA].

While this particular opinion was a justification of an intervention by Obama, the opinion draws support from other unilateral military interventions, including those in Somalia and Panama by George H.W. Bush and in Haiti and Bosnia and Kosovo by Bill Clinton.¹⁷⁸ As one political scientist has noted: "As precedent built on precedent, executives became increasingly audacious in their claims."¹⁷⁹

Once again, bypassing Congress increases partisanship and polarization. Many of these interventions touched off partisan squabbles and became fodder for angry accusations by politicians of the opposing party in the next presidential election cycle. Importantly, presidential unilateralism allows for divisive military actions that do not enjoy consensus support. Such actions prevent members of Congress from reaching compromises that would command a majority and create broader support. These compromises could include requiring more diplomacy before taking military action, requiring allies to join before the country takes military action, limiting the duration of the military action, or setting a limit on the amount of money to be expended in the military action.

A failure of Congress to vote on military action also increases the likelihood that the war will be politically divisive. If members of Congress have authorized a war, particularly in frequent circumstance of a divided Congress, partisans become less able to criticize that war.¹⁸¹ In contrast, when responsibility is not shared, military success or failure becomes a political club with which to beat opponents. But wars often have unpredictable outcomes that are beyond the

These non-hostilities included bombing. See Sarah Burns, The Politics of War Powers: The Theory and History of Presidential Unilateralism 226 (2019).

т

¹⁷⁸ See, e.g., Authority to Use United States Military Forces in Somalia, 16 Op. O.L.C. 6, 6–10 (1992); Deployment of United States Armed Forces into Haiti, 18 Op. O.L.C. 173, 173–77 (1994); Proposed Deployment of United States Armed Forces into Bosnia, 19 Op. O.L.C. 327, 330–31 (1995). While the Obama opinion mentioned the interventions in Panama and Kosovo, it did not reference that OLC had also approved of these interventions. See Authorization for Continuing Hostilities in Kosovo, 24 Op. O.L.C. 327, 327 (2000); William P. Barr, Attorney General's Remarks, Benjamin N. Cardozo School of Law, November 15, 1992, 15 CARDOZO L. REV. 31, 34 (1993); see also Louis Fisher, Unchecked Presidential Wars, 148 U. PA. L. REV. 1637, 1638 (2002) (recounting executive branch's undeclared wars).

¹⁷⁹ See BURNS, supra note 177, at 15.

¹⁸⁰ See, e.g., Jake Tapper & Devin Dwyer, President Obama's Libya Intervention Hits 60-Day Legal Limit, ABC NEWS (May 19, 2011), https://abcnews.go.com/Politics/libya-president-obama-congress-faces-questions-war-powers-act/story?id=13642002 [https://perma.cc/V625-2FXR] (discussing Republican complaints of Obama's Libya intervention); see also Eric A. Posner & Cass R. Sunstein, Institutional Flip-Flops, 94 Tex. L. Rev. 485, 497 (2016) (describing how Republicans objected to unilateral military interventions by a Democratic President and vice versa).

¹⁸¹ See Jide O. Nzelibe & Matthew C. Stephenson, Complementary Constraints: Separation of Powers, Rational Voting, and Constitutional Design, 123 HARV. L. REV. 617, 639 (2010) (discussing the political insurance that war authorization votes give the President).

ability of politicians to control. Broadening accountability for the momentous decision to go to war diffuses responsibility and thus defuses the polarization that comes from the political opportunism offered by the battlefield events.

Under our existing rules, even congressional approval for military action is less beneficial because Presidents retain a claimed authority to act unilaterally. That threat was explicit in the run-up to the 2003 Iraq war when President George W. Bush stated that he did not believe he needed express congressional authorization. As a result of the unilateral option lurking in the background, congressional authorization might not reflect genuine consent because members may feel they have to go along with a fait accompli at the risk of seeming disloyal to their party or the nation. And when Congress authorized the action, President Bush appended a signing statement to his approval, noting that he had not needed the legislation to undertake the engagement against Iraq. This statement was expressly designed to preserve the unilateral options of his successors against which Congress must weigh its actions.

Congress has also created unilateral foreign affairs authority in the same manner as in domestic affairs—by providing open-ended authorizations that Presidents can exploit to take military action and thus avoid the strictures of the War Powers Act. ¹⁸⁶ The statutory authorization for presidents to use force against any actor connected to the 9-11 atrocities is an example. ¹⁸⁷

¹⁸² See supra note 166 and accompanying text.

¹⁸³ See Stuart Taylor Jr., An Invasion of Iraq Requires the Approval of Congress, ATLANTIC (Sept. 1, 2002), https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2002/09/an-invasion-of-iraq-requires-the-approval-of-congress/378094/ [https://perma.cc/7Z2E-JYHU] (observing that as a matter of law Bush claims that he "is free to initiate a major war all by himself").

¹⁸⁴ Statement on Signing the Resolution, Authorizing the Use of Military Force Against Iraq, 2 Pub. Papers 1814, 1814 (Oct. 16, 2002) ("[M]y signing this resolution does not, constitute any change in the long-standing positions of the executive branch on either the President's constitutional authority to use force to deter, prevent, or respond to aggression or other threats to U.S. interests or on the constitutionality of the War Powers Resolution.").

¹⁸⁵ Burns, *supra* note 177, at 185 (noting how the statement freed the executive "to exercise the legalized version of Lockean prerogative developed over the previous forty years").

¹⁸⁶See David A. Simon, Ending Perpetual War? Constitutional War Termination Powers and the Conflict Against Al Qaeda, 41 PEPP. L. REV. 685, 713–19, 722 (2014) (discussing Congress's funding of armed conflicts since the Vietnam War, and stating that "most of the major U.S. military operations since World War II have been preceded by congressional authorization").

¹⁸⁷ The 2001 Authorization for Use of Military Force (AUMF) allows the President "to use all necessary and appropriate force against those nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or harbored such organizations or persons." Pub. L. 107-40, § 2, 115 Stat. 224, 224 (2001). For a discussion of how Congress tried to cabin presidential power in the AUMF but "still passed a resolution that was unusual in its lack of limits," see Shoon Kathleen Murray, *Stretching the 2001 AUMF: A History of Two Presidencies*, 45 PRESIDENTIAL STUD. Q. 175, 175–78 (2015).

While Congress attempted to curb the President's authority through the framework legislation of the War Powers Act in the 1970s, the Act has proved a dismal failure. The core of the Act requires the President to report when he or she sends the armed forces into "hostilities." That report triggers a sixty-day clock that requires the President to get congressional approval or remove the troops from hostilities. Presidents of both parties have refused to acquiesce in the War Powers Act, sending notices consistent with the Act while declining to accept that they are obliged to follow the Act. 191

There are several reasons for the failure. First, the Act includes an unconstitutional legislative veto, ¹⁹² allowing Presidents to impugn the act with a general claim of unconstitutionality even though the legislative veto is only one part of the statute. ¹⁹³ Second, presidents have used the sixty-day period as a justification for beginning unilateral conflicts without congressional approval, even though it is best read as solely a limitation on conflicts that exceed sixty days. ¹⁹⁴ Third, the meaning of "hostilities," which starts the sixty-day clock, is undefined and unclear. ¹⁹⁵ Fourth, Presidents have argued that the requirement to report hostilities does not necessarily start the sixty-day clock. ¹⁹⁶ The problem is that the Act requires three different reports that might also be about hostilities, but only one of these reports sets the clock moving. ¹⁹⁷ Beyond these legal problems, claims by Presidents that the Act grants a license to commit military forces for an extended period permits them to create facts on the ground that make it hard for Congress to exercise its judgment for fear of being criticized for not supporting the troops.

It is true that Congress has other methods for controlling the waging of war. It can cut off funds for military operations. ¹⁹⁸ Committees can hold hearings that place the military action in an unfavorable light. ¹⁹⁹ Individual members can mount publicity campaigns in opposition and use the media to their

¹⁸⁸ Harold Hongju Koh, The National Security Constitution: Sharing Power After the Iran-Contra Affair 123 (1990).

¹⁸⁹ See War Powers Resolution, Pub. L. No. 93-148, § 2, 87 Stat. 555, 555 (1973).

¹⁹⁰ *Id.* § 6, at 557.

¹⁹¹ See Frank Easterbrook, *Presidential Review*, 40 CASE W. RSRV. L. REV. 905, 923 (1990).

¹⁹² War Powers Resolution § 5(c), 87 Stat. at 556–57.

¹⁹³ Legislative vetoes were held unconstitutional in *INS v. Chadha*, 462 U.S. 919, 944–59 (1983).

¹⁹⁴BURNS, *supra* note 177, at 186–87.

¹⁹⁵ See Michael J. Glennon, *The War Powers Resolution Ten Years Later: More Politics than Law*, 78 AM. J. INT'L L. 571, 580 (1984).

¹⁹⁶ *Id.* at 572.

¹⁹⁷ Id

¹⁹⁸ See William G. Howell & Jon C. Pevehouse, While Dangers Gather: Congressional Checks on Presidential War Powers 10, 14, 16–17 (2007) (discussing appropriations as a congressional check).

¹⁹⁹ *Id.* at 24 n.68.

advantage.²⁰⁰ But none of these actions is as effective a constraint as requiring a vote on initiating a war. After all, the President can veto bills with restrictions on military funding.²⁰¹ Presidents have in the past continued to wage wars that were unpopular with Congress and the public.²⁰² Moreover, once the war has begun, partisan lines may well harden. *Ex post* constraints are simply not as effective as *ex ante* authorizations, both in assuring that wars reflect consensus rather than extreme views and in reducing the likelihood of cycles of polarization.

Thus, improving the War Powers Resolution is necessary if the President's exercise of military power is not to exacerbate polarization. First, except for designated exceptions, such as rescuing American citizens, the sixty-day period permitted for committing troops to hostilities without congressional authorization should be shortened. Second, hostilities should be defined to include *any* offensive military action of the government. With these changes, it should be clear that the President is required to remove troops within the new time period unless the hostilities receive congressional approval.

To be sure, these are substantial reforms that require a change in our warmaking culture.²⁰³ But many members of Congress have introduced bills to reform and revise the War Powers Resolution to make it more effective.²⁰⁴ Some bills also attempt to terminate open-ended delegations of Wars Powers, such as those passed after the 9-11 attacks.²⁰⁵ While Al-Qaeda no longer

²⁰⁰ *Id.* at 23.

²⁰¹ To be sure, he or she must veto the entire bill, not just the restriction. *See* Michael B. Rappaport, *The President's Veto and the Constitution*, 87 Nw. U. L. REV. 735, 738 (1993).

²⁰² Nate Willems, Comparative Analysis of Ending a War Against the Will of the Executive in the United States and United Kingdom, 16 TRANSNAT'L L. & CONTEMP. PROBS. 401, 424 (2006) (discussing the difficulty of denying re-nomination to Presidents who pursue unpopular wars).

²⁰³ For a criticism of recent U.S. war making, see Edwin B. Firmage, *The War Power of Congress and Revision of the War Powers Resolution*, 17 J. CONTEMP. L. 237, 265 (1991) ("[O]ur forty-five year 'habit' with overt and covert warfare must not be allowed to distort and destroy our natural inclination toward peace and our constitutional commitment of the war power to Congress.").

²⁰⁴ For an overview of congressional attempts to reform the War Powers Resolution, see MATTHEW C. WEED, CONG. RSCH. SERV., R42699, THE WAR POWERS RESOLUTION: CONCEPTS AND PRACTICE 63–67 (2019), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R42699/16 (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*). Some proposed reforms have sought to strengthen congressional oversight. *See generally* War Powers Reform Act, H.R. Res. 560, 114th Cong. (2015) (enacted) (limiting the use of military funds where there has been no declaration of war); War Powers Amendments of 1995, H.R.J. Res. 95, 104th Cong. (1995) (allowing members of Congress to sue the president for violating the WPR).

²⁰⁵ Open-ended delegations of war powers include the 2001 Authorization for Use of Military Force, Pub. L. 107-40, 115 Stat. 224 (2001), and the 2002 Authorization for Use of Military Force Against Iraq, Pub. L. 107-243, 116 Stat. 1498 (2002). The 2001 AUMF authorizes the President "to use all necessary and appropriate force against those nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001," and lacks a sunset clause. *See* 2001

represents as imminent a threat as it once did, both Presidents Obama and Trump have used that 9-11 authorization as justification for the use of military force in the Middle East.²⁰⁶ Thus, there is evidence of bipartisan legislative discomfort with unilateral presidential authority that is likely to be a continuing impetus for reform.²⁰⁷

Such significant changes could possibly be enacted after a failed military intervention turns much of the public against presidential unilateral action in military affairs. For instance, the War Powers Act itself was passed after the disastrous Vietnam War.²⁰⁸ The analysis offered here shows that such a reform will, by reducing polarization, improve decisions to fight wars and the unity of the nation during those wars.

B. Agreements with Foreign Nations

Another source of polarization is the claimed presidential authority to enter into controversial binding agreements with foreign nations without having them ratified as treaties or even consented to by Congress as congressional executive

AUMF § 2, 115 Stat. at 224. Members of Congress have introduced bills to sunset the 2001 AUMF and repeal the 2002 AUMF Against Iraq. *See, e.g.*, S. 526, 114th Cong. (Feb. 12, 2015) (terminating the 2001 AUMF by a specific date); H.R. 2740, 116th Cong. § 9025 (2019) (repealing the 2001 AUMF as part of an appropriations package); H.R. 2456, 116th Cong. (2019) (repealing the 2002 AUMF Against Iraq).

Cong. (2019) (repealing the 2002 AUMF Against Iraq).

206 See WHITE HOUSE, REPORT ON THE LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORKS GUIDING THE UNITED STATES' USE OF MILITARY FORCE AND RELATED NATIONAL SECURITY OPERATIONS 15-18 (Dec. 2016), https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/whitehouse.gov/files /documents/Legal Policy Report.pdf [https://perma.cc/3D7A-7VRX] (using the 2001 AUMF to justify the Obama Administration's military strikes in Iraq, Syria, Yemen, Somalia, and Libya); WHITE HOUSE, NOTICE ON THE LEGAL AND POLICY FRAMEWORKS GUIDING THE UNITED STATES' USE OF MILITARY FORCE AND RELATED NATIONAL SECURITY OPERATIONS 1 (Apr. 2021), https://foreignaffairs.house.gov/ cache/files/4/3/4362ca46-3a7d-43e8-a3ec-be0245705722/6E1A0F30F9204E380A7AD0C84EC572EC.doc148.pdf [https://perma.cc/8U2D-DDD5] (using the 2002 AUMF Against Iraq to justify the Trump Administration's airstrike that killed Iranian general Qassem Soleimani). In response, Congress has tried to invoke the WPR to cabin these unilateral actions. See, e.g., S.J. Res. 68, 116th Cong. (introduced Jan. 9, 2020, and failing to override presidential veto) (directing President Trump "to terminate the use of United States Armed Forces for hostilities against the Islamic Republic of Iran"); H. Con. Res. 51, 112th Cong. (2011) (directing President Obama "pursuant to section 5(c) of the War Powers Resolution, Congress directs the President to remove United States Armed Forces from Libya" (citation omitted)).

²⁰⁷ The most recent response from Congress, the Senate Joint Resolution terminating military activity against Iran (S.J. Res. 68, 116th Cong. (2020)), passed the Senate and House before being vetoed, so it did have bipartisan support. *See S.J.Res.* 68, CONGRESS.GOV (2020), https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/senate-joint-resolution/68/actions?KWIC View=false (on file with the *Ohio State Law Journal*).

²⁰⁸ Louis Fisher, *Congressional Abdication: War and Spending Powers*, 43 St. Louis U. L.J. 931, 956, 963–67 (1999).

agreements.²⁰⁹ This form of unilateralism may be becoming more acute. And while President Trump did not, as noted above, engage in this kind of unilateralism because of his specific ideology,²¹⁰ one can expect that any new precedent for executive agreements will be seized by Presidents of both parties to advance their foreign affairs objectives, especially because international agreements can have important domestic implications.

For instance, the Paris Climate Accord, signed by President Obama, seems problematic, because in one important and binding respect—its requirement that the United States participate in a process for climate change reduction—it is not authorized by any enacted law or the inherent power of the President.²¹¹ President Trump then withdrew from the Accord.²¹² This dramatic U-turn both reflects and accentuates the cycle of political polarization that arises when Presidents act unilaterally.²¹³

In this subpart, we first outline the constitutional rules for international agreements, emphasizing how treaties and even congressional executive agreements require substantial consensus and militate against polarization. Under the original Constitution, binding executive agreements on important matters were limited either to appropriate statutory delegations or a few areas of inherent presidential powers, thus limiting presidential unilateralism.²¹⁴

Second, we discuss the rise of executive agreements in the modern era. Some are made pursuant to delegations by treaty or statute. These delegations can raise similar problems of polarization as delegations to administrative agencies in the domestic sphere that we discussed in Part II. More recently, international law theorists and the State Department's Legal Advisor under the Obama administration have suggested an even broader power to conclude agreements on any subject so long as it is consistent with congressional

²⁰⁹ This issue should be distinguished from executive international agreements that the President makes pursuant to broad delegations from Congress—so-called "ex ante congressional-executive agreements." *See* Oona A. Hathaway, *Presidential Power Over International Law: Restoring the Balance*, 119 YALE L.J. 140, 145 (2009). This kind of agreement is very frequent. *Id.* at 155–67. These agreements raise much the same polarizing problems as domestic delegations because they effectively permit unilateral executive action.

²¹⁰ See infra note 208 and accompanying text.

²¹¹ See supra note 167 and accompanying text.

²¹²Lisa Friedman, *Trump Serves Notice to Quit Climate Agreement*, N.Y. TIMES (Nov. 4, 2019), https://www.nytimes.com/2019/11/04/climate/trump-paris-agreement-climate.html [https://perma.cc/N6RS-HL4L].

often such agreements are only polarizing because of other binding delegations to the President. For example, the reason that the President was able to make the Iran agreement was that he could eliminate binding sanctions on Iran by administrative fiat. See Samuel Estreicher & Steven Menashi, Taking Steel Seizures Seriously: The Iranian Nuclear Agreement and Separation of Powers, 86 FORDHAM L. REV. 1199, 1230–36 (2017) (describing sanctions regime).

²¹⁴Oona A. Hathaway, Curtis A. Bradley & Jack L. Goldsmith, *The Failed Transparency Regime for Executive Agreements: An Empirical and Normative Analysis*, 134 HARV. L. REV. 629, 638–39 (2020).

legislation.²¹⁵ Another troubling development expands the notion of what is a nonbinding executive agreement to include agreements that lock in subsequent administrations to a political process. We conclude by recommending that Congress pass framework legislation to restrict the power of Presidents to conclude binding agreements outside of the relatively few areas authorized by their inherent powers.

1. The Constitution and International Agreements

The Constitution provides an express mechanism for entering into substantial binding agreements with foreign powers: The President and two-thirds of the Senate are required to make a treaty. The reasons for the two-thirds requirement are several. First, the treaty ratification process does not require the House's consent. But the higher qualified majority in the Senate more than compensates for its absence in requiring consensus. But the supermajority requirement provides a substitute check on national power. Third, violating or terminating an international treaty may have costs to the nation's reputation. But a supermajority consensus makes such instability less likely. This last reason closely tracks concerns about polarization. Agreements that depend on political views that are not widely shared are more likely to be upended and the two-thirds requirement for treaty ratification almost invariably requires substantial bipartisan support. Page 120.

It is true that the President and Congress have long purported to make law out of what are called congressional-executive agreements, which are executive agreements enacted as legislation by a majority of both houses of Congress.²²¹ Such congressional-executive agreements pose a reduced risk of polarization, because they require congressional ratification and thus majority approval by both houses, albeit not supermajority approval in the Senate. They have much the same advantage in tamping down on polarization as does congressional approval of agency regulations. Requiring such majority support from both houses allows only agreements that command some degree of popular consensus, even if they do not require as much consensus as a two-thirds vote

²¹⁵ Daniel Bodansky & Peter Spiro, *Executive Agreements*+, 49 VAND. J. TRANSNAT'L L. 885, 887–88 (2016).

²¹⁶U.S. CONST. art. II, § 2, cl. 2 (stating that the President "shall have Power, by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, to make Treaties, provided two thirds of the Senators present concur").

²¹⁷ See John O. McGinnis & Michael B. Rappaport, Our Supermajoritarian Constitution, 80 Tex. L. Rev. 703, 760 (2002).

²¹⁸ *Id.* at 761.

²¹⁹ See id. at 763.

²²⁰ Id. at 760.

²²¹ See RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF THE FOREIGN RELS. L. OF THE U.S. § 303 cmt. e (AM. L. INST. 1990) (stating that interchangeability of congressional-executive agreements is the prevailing view).

of the Senate. In divided government congressional-executive agreements also require some measure of bipartisan consensus. Thus, congressional executive agreements are superior to sole executive agreements in terms of reducing polarization. Unfortunately, it is not at all clear congressional executive agreements comport with the Constitution's original meaning.²²² Moreover,

²²²Laurence H. Tribe, Taking Text and Structure Seriously: Reflections on Free-Form Method in Constitutional Interpretation, 108 HARV. L. REV. 1221, 1258 (1995). It is not at all clear that this practice of so-called interchangeability comports with the Constitution's original meaning. Id. at 1249–78 (arguing that using statutes instead of treaties for major international agreements comports with neither the text nor structure of the Constitution); MICHAEL D. RAMSEY, THE CONSTITUTION'S TEXT IN FOREIGN AFFAIRS 174–93 (2007) (same). The constitutional problems of complete interchangeability are substantial. For instance, the Treaty Clause is the only provision of the Constitution permitting ratification of international agreements. U.S. CONST. art II. § 2, cl. 2 ("He shall have Power, by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, to make Treaties, provided two thirds of the Senators present concur..."); see John C. Yoo, Laws as Treaties?: The Constitutionality of Congressional-Executive Agreements, 99 MICH. L. REV. 757, 788 (2000). Permitting statutes to be interchangeable with treaties makes the clause effectively irrelevant, because in almost all cases it is easier to obtain a majority of both House of Congress than two thirds of the Senate. Id. at 775 n.67. Moreover, a congressional-executive agreement takes away a power of the President who, even after the Senate has consented to a treaty, has plenary power to refuse to ratify it. Tribe, supra, at 1252-57 (explaining how the President makes a treaty subject to the Senate's consent).

To be sure, Professors Bruce Ackerman and David Golove have suggested that complete interchangeability has been created by effective ratification of this practice by the American people. See generally Bruce Ackerman & David Golove, Is NAFTA Constitutional?, 108 HARV. L. REV. 799 (1995). But their argument is dependent on accepting the "constitutional moments" theory of Professor Ackerman's by which the Constitution can be amended outside of Article V if these changes have been effectively ratified by approval of the American people in several elections. For elaboration of the "constitutional moments" theory, see generally 1 BRUCE ACKERMAN, WE THE PEOPLE: FOUNDATIONS (1991); 2 BRUCE ACKERMAN, WE THE PEOPLE: TRANSFORMATIONS (1998). The theory is very controversial. See Michael J. Klarman, Constitutional Fact/Constitutional Fiction: A Critique of Bruce Ackerman's Theory of Constitutional Moments, 44 STAN. L. REV. 759, 766-68 (1992) (criticizing Ackerman's theory for failing to afford courts a clear rule of recognition); McGinnis & Rappaport, supra note 217, at 795 ("This uncertainty deprives the constitutional-moment theory of the deliberativeness, seriousness, and consciousness of purpose that Ackerman himself believes are required to amend the Constitution intelligently. This uncertainty will also make it more difficult for judges to determine the meaning of the Constitution, rendering constitutional law even more uncertain and contested."). Moreover, it has been persuasively argued that complete interchangeability does not meet the criteria set down for the "constitutional moments" theory, namely that the constitutional change become politically salient enough to be contested and approved in a series of federal elections. See Yoo, supra, at 783-87 (showing that there is little evidence that the question of interchangeability was presented to voters and thus received the deliberation that Ackerman's own theory requires). In any event, complete interchangeability is not yet accepted outside of the area of international trade agreements. For instance, the Senate objected strenuously when President Jimmy Carter attempted to pass the Strategic Arms Limitation Talks II (SALT II) as a congressional-executive agreement. See Phillip R. Trimble & Jack S. Weiss, The Role of the President, the Senate and Congress

despite their existence, the executive still frequently employs sole executive agreements.²²³

Executive agreements often raise constitutional concerns and create problems of unilateralism because they are international agreements struck by the President alone.²²⁴ Executive international agreements are of two primary kinds—sole executive agreements that the President undertakes without any legal authorization other than the Constitution and executive agreements authorized by statute or treaty.²²⁵

The established scope for sole executive agreements that do not rely on delegation from either a statute or treaty is narrow and thus is unlikely to lead to polarization.²²⁶ A leading law review article on executive agreements has stated that important sole executive agreements upheld by the Supreme Court have been tied to an independent and inherent presidential power.²²⁷ For instance, the President may well have an inherent power to recognize foreign government and many sole executive agreements concerns his ability to settle claims at the time of recognition.²²⁸ But even here the Supreme Court has emphasized that the power to settle claims is "narrow and strictly limited."²²⁹ The President also enjoys some power to enter into sole executive agreements that are minor or nonbinding, and thus are also unlikely to be polarizing.²³⁰

The President also can enter into executive agreements pursuant to delegations by statutes or treaties.²³¹ If these delegations are broad, they may create similar problems of unilateralism in some cases to those we considered in the domestic sphere in Part III. But in some respects the problem is more acute, because courts have often upheld not only explicit delegations in foreign affairs, but also implicit ones.²³² Implicit delegations are delegations where

with Respect to Arms Control Treaties Concluded by the United States, 67 CHI.-KENT L. REV. 645, 662 (1991).

²²³ Hathaway, Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 214, at 639.

²²⁴ See, e.g., id. at 641 (discussing the importance of the Constitution's requirement for congressional approval for treaties as a vehicle to preserve interbranch coordination that is lost when the President acts alone in an executive agreement).

²²⁵ For a survey of the types of executive agreements, see *id.* at 638–45.

²²⁶ *Id.* at 640 (noting that the President may enter into these types of agreements when it is related to his or her "independent constitutional powers").

²²⁷ Id

²²⁸ Id. at 640–41.

²²⁹ Medellin v. Texas, 552 U.S. 491, 532 (2008). We put aside the question whether agreements that are made at the same time that the President recognizes another government are in accord with the original meaning.

²³⁰Michael D. Ramsey, Evading the Treaty Power?: The Constitutionality of Nonbinding Agreements, 11 FIU L. REV. 371, 375 (2016).

²³¹ Hathaway, Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 214, at 641–45.

²³² Id. at 642 ("A complicating factor here is that congressional authorization can be *implied* rather than express."). Another way that presidents can receive authority to enter international agreements under existing law is through the conduct of the government. Harold Hongju Koh, *Presidential Power to Terminate International Agreements*, 128 YALE L.J. F. 432, 472 n.175 (2018). In *Dames & Moore v. Regan*, the Supreme Court held that

Congress has not deliberated on or specifically addressed the existence and contours of the delegation.²³³ To the extent that such implicit delegations are less clear, the opportunity for compromise and consensus is frustrated even at the stage of delegation, let alone at the stage when the President strikes the agreement.

2. The Growth of Unilateralism in Executive Agreements

While the Constitution establishes treaties as the essential mechanism for making international agreements, a recent study indicates that ninety percent of international agreements since the 1930s have been made by executive agreements.²³⁴ This development has been part of a growth of presidential unilateralism in making international law generally.²³⁵ While most of these agreements have been made based on some claim of legislative authorization, "some of the most important congressional authorizations are quite general and were conferred decades ago when the domestic and international consequences of the authorizations were different and much less significant."²³⁶ Thus, it is less clear that Congress contemplated their effect. Moreover, as noted above, some of these delegations are implicit rather than explicit.²³⁷

But beyond this general problem of unilateralism in the last seventy years, a period that roughly coincides with the rise of administrative discretion, we may be witnessing further expansion in the last decade, both in executive agreements made under delegations and sole executive agreements.²³⁸

A concrete example of the use of more aggressive theories of delegation to give the President unilateral power is The Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement, a multilateral agreement to protect international property.²³⁹ The Legal Adviser in the Obama administration defended it as an executive

Congress should be understood to have authorized the President to enter into an executive agreement not based on a statute that authorized the agreement, but instead based on the conduct of the President and the Congress. Dames & Moore v. Regan, 453 U.S. 654, 678–79, 686 (1981).

²³³ United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 229 (2001) (discussing the nature of implicit delegations by Congress and the natural consequences and ambiguities of such delegations).

²³⁴ Hathaway, Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 214, at 632.

²³⁵ See generally Curtis A. Bradley & Jack L. Goldsmith, *Presidential Control over International Law*, 131 HARV. L. REV. 1201 (2018).

²³⁶ *Id.* at 1205.

²³⁷ See supra Part III (discussing implicit congressional delegations).

²³⁸ Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 235, at 1209–12.

²³⁹ See generally Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement, 50 INT'L LEGAL MATERIALS 243 (2011), 2011 WL 8964421; see also Oona A. Hathaway & Amy Kapczynski, Going It Alone: The Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement as a Sole Executive Agreement, AM. SOC'Y INT'L L. (Aug. 24, 2011), https://www.asil.org/insights/volume/15/issue/23/going-it-alone-anti-counterfeiting-trade-agreement-sole-executive [https://perma.cc/F7KC-U7FX] (discussing the delegation of unilateral power of the President through the Anti-Counterfeiting Trade Agreement).

agreement, despite the absence of a delegation from Congress.²⁴⁰ He justified the agreement by noting that in the case of intellectual property, members of Congress had sent a letter calling for the executive to "work[] with other countries to establish" such protections.²⁴¹ More generally, the Legal Adviser said the executive should be able to execute international agreements on its own so long as it "determine[s] that the negotiated agreement fit[s] within the fabric of existing law, [is] fully consistent with existing law, and [does] not require any further legislation to implement."²⁴² The Legal Adviser's view reflected a new theory of executive agreements that holds that an executive agreement is permissible when it "complement[s]" or is "consistent" with congressional statutes.²⁴³ Thus, whenever Congress acts, it will be deemed to empower the executive to deal through executive agreement with the international aspects of the problem that Congress has addressed, even though there is no explicit or implicit delegation.

This new approach would vastly increase the scope for executive agreements, greatly reducing the need for treaties and congressional executive agreements. It would invert the basic structure of the separation of powers, where outside of the limited inherent power of the President, Congress must delegate power before the President is authorized to act. It even goes beyond the notion of implicit delegation by making it unnecessary to infer such a delegation from specific evidence and instead finds the delegation of power to make relevant executive agreements a ready inference from every congressional statute.

This new theory for finding delegations of executive agreement will greatly exacerbate polarization. Opponents of the President would feel alienated by a broad presidential power to advance presidential priorities by international agreements in areas of the statutory landscape of the President's choosing.

Another way that the President's power to enter major executive agreements has been expanded is through the claim that they are nonbinding. Here, the concrete example is the Paris Accord, which on balance seems to include a substantial and binding agreement. The substantial and binding part is that which commits the United States to be part of an emission reduction process—

²⁴⁰ Hathaway, Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 214, at 643–44. This article outlined the facts and included quotations from the official record which we discuss here. *Id*.

²⁴¹Letter from Harold Hongju Koh, Legal Adviser, U.S. Dep't of State, to Ron Wyden, U.S. Sen. (Mar. 6, 2012), http://infojustice.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/03/84365507-State-Department-Response-to-Wyden-on-ACTA.pdf [https://perma.cc/9BF8-LA2P]; Letter from Ron Wyden, U.S. Sen., to Harold Hongju Koh, Legal Adviser, U.S. Dep't of State (July 25, 2012), http://infojustice.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/wyden-07252012.pdf [https://perma.cc/2D5H-762R].

²⁴² Hathaway, Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 214, at 644 (quoting Harold Hongju Koh, *Triptych's End: A Better Framework to Evaluate 21st Century International Lawmaking*, 126 YALE L.J. F. 338, 343 (2017)).

²⁴³ Bodansky & Spiro, *supra* note 215, at 887–88.

that is, to participate in emissions reduction talks.²⁴⁴ Thus, the United States cannot simply walk away and say that reductions are not going to part of its international agenda. As Professor Michael Ramsey observes, "If a future President or Congress decides the target goals process is not worthwhile, the process cannot be discontinued without violating a binding obligation (and the United States must remain a party to the Agreement for at least three years . . .)."²⁴⁵ Thus, the binding aspect of the agreement realistically boxes the United States in.²⁴⁶

The recent efforts to find authority without a delegation for some executive agreements and to conclude that others are nonbinding are similar in that both create more unilateral presidential power to use international relations to create obligations that have large domestic effects. They increase polarization by expanding the power to use the international sphere to obtain controversial policies that the President could not secure through the more demanding requirements needed to pass domestic legislation, treaties, or congressional executive agreements.

Here, Congress can prevent polarization by enacting a statute to limit the President's unilateral power. First, framework legislation should provide that no executive agreements, that impose international law obligations on the United States, have binding domestic legal force. The definition of binding should include any action that creates rights, duties, or obligations on any person, including the President's successors. It might except from this legislation executive agreements undertaken in the limited areas of the President's inherent powers, such as the recognition power, as well as those undertaken under genuine delegations that meet the constitutional standard for appropriate delegation. If needed, Congress could provide a fast-track procedure for congressional approval of the latter kind of agreements rather than providing a

²⁴⁴Ramsey, *supra* note 230, at 384–85. For example, Article 4.2 of the Paris Agreement states that "[e]ach Party shall prepare, communicate and maintain successive nationally determined contributions that it intends to achieve. Parties shall pursue domestic mitigation measures with the aim of achieving the objectives of such contributions." *Id.* at 385. As Ramsey notes, this provision of the Accord uses the verb "shall" which implies a binding obligation in international law. *Id.* at 384. While one might interpret this language as allowing a signatory to set the emission reductions at zero, Ramsey appears to argue against this interpretation. *See id.* at 385. He notes that "the United States is not committed to any specific level of emissions, but it is committed to the general policy of reducing emissions." *Id.* at 386.

²⁴⁵ *Id.* at 385.

²⁴⁶ *Id.* at 386–87. Bradley and Goldsmith argue that the Paris Accord are permissible, because parts are done pursuant to a delegation by treaty and the rest is nonbinding. *See* Bradley & Goldsmith, *supra* note 235, at 1250–51. In particular, they emphasize that the absolute and specific target reductions that developed countries undertake are nonbinding. *Id.* at 1251. But they do not discuss the argument made here and by Michael Ramsey that the commitment to be part of a process on emission reductions is binding and substantial. Despite our arguments, we acknowledge that the question is a close one.

general exception. This statute would halt the expansion of another polarizing aspect of presidential unilateral powers.

V. RESPONSES TO COUNTERARGUMENTS

This Part addresses counterarguments to our descriptive and normative theses. First, one might dispute our descriptive claim that unilateralism leads to polarization. Instead, it might be argued that growing polarization leads to unilateralism. According to this argument, increasingly extreme policy agendas are the cause of unilateralism. In a polarized politics, those with extreme policies do not want institutional pressures to compromise. Thus, they seek to change government structures to allow policy change to be made unilaterally. We argue in response that the history of polarization and government structure does not support this objection. Moreover, we do not necessarily deny that polarization causes unilateralism. Our main claim is that unilateralism causes polarization, not that unilateralism is not produced by other causes.

Second, one might dispute our normative claim that less unilateralism will be beneficial even if it leads to less polarization. The argument here is that even if changes in government structure have led to increased polarization, these changes have compensating virtues that justify them. For example, some commentators argue that making the President the sole master of policy decisions through delegation promotes accountability.²⁴⁷ Other commentators contend that delegation also makes it easier to change the status quo by reducing the number of veto points for policy change as compared to getting legislation through both houses of Congress.²⁴⁸ Still other observers might argue that reducing compromise generates more principled or simply better decisions.²⁴⁹ This Part rebuts these arguments, maintaining that even if unilateralism has some benefits, these benefits are outweighed by the costs of polarization.

A. Polarization Leads to Unilateralism

It is certainly possible that polarization can lead to presidential unilateralism.²⁵⁰ But we believe that it is unilateralism that more often and more powerfully leads to polarization. Our claim is supported by the timing of the

²⁴⁷ Kagan, *supra* note 55, at 2331–39; Michael A. Livermore, *Political Parties and Presidential Oversight*, 67 ALA. L. REV. 45, 80 n.182 (2015). *See generally* Christopher C. DeMuth & Douglas H. Ginsburg, *White House Review of Agency Rulemaking*, 99 HARV. L. REV. 1075 (1986).

²⁴⁸ See, e.g., McGinnis & Rappaport, supra note 217, at 770–74 (discussing the hurdles and supermajority requirements of bicameralism and presentment as constitutional veto points in development of new law).

²⁴⁹ See, e.g., Jessica M. Stricklin, The Most Dangerous Directive: The Rise of Presidential Memoranda in the Twenty-First Century as a Legislative Shortcut, 88 Tul. L. Rev. 397, 402 (2013).

²⁵⁰ Devins & Lewis, *supra* note 109, at 487.

changes in our polity. The unilateralism of the administrative state has grown even in relatively bipartisan times in which there was greater social consensus, such as the periods from the 1940s to the early 1960s and in the 1990s.²⁵¹ Similarly, presidents have claimed unilateral war-making authority for decades, even when the country was enjoying periods of relative consensus.²⁵² Thus, history suggests that unilateralism has been more responsible for polarization than the other way around.

This objection also misunderstands the contribution of this Article. We do not argue that *only* presidential unilateralism contributes to polarization. Like other complex social phenomena, polarization has many causes. Nor, of course, is polarization the only force that may contribute to changes in government structure. Rather, it is our argument that changes in governmental structure that we catalogue are an important and previously unrecognized cause of polarization.

The power of our contribution is made clear when we contrast it with the very modest support for the legal structure that is popularly cited as most responsible for polarization—gerrymandering of the House of Representatives. ²⁵³ The data, however, undermine this claim. Political scientists have found little evidence for such a connection. ²⁵⁴ For instance, Republicans and Democrats have become more polarized even when they represent the same districts. ²⁵⁵ Moreover, when political scientists simulated elections between Democrats and Republicans under non-gerrymandered districts, the results did not substantially reduce polarization. ²⁵⁶ Finally, polarization has increased in the Senate, although Senators are elected from states with fixed boundaries that cannot be gerrymandered, rather than ones established by contemporary politicians. ²⁵⁷ The evidence we present in this Article suggests that presidential unilateralism likely has more effect on polarization than gerrymandering, even though the latter has been much discussed to the exclusion of the former.

²⁵¹ See Robert L. Rabin, Federal Regulation in Historical Perspective, 38 STAN. L. REV. 1189, 1325 (1986) (describing how the administrative system of government has grown by "leaps and bounds" since the New Deal, including tendency for government intervention).

²⁵² See infra notes 284–87 and accompanying text.

²⁵³ See Arnold Schwarzenegger, Ban Partisan Gerrymandering and Enact Open Primaries Nationwide, Politico (2019), https://www.politico.com/interactives/2019/how-to-fix-politics-in-america/polarization/ban-partisan-gerrymandering-enact-open-primaries-nationwide/ [https://perma.cc/N35L-6PD7]; see, e.g., Samuel A. Marcosson, Fixing Congress, 33 BYU J. PUB. L. 227, 251–53 (2019) (ending gerrymandering is the only hope of ending partisan polarization in the House).

²⁵⁴ Nolan McCarty, Keith T. Poole & Howard Rosenthal, *Does Gerrymandering Cause Polarization*, 53 AM. J. Pol. Sci. 666, 678 (2009) ("[Polarization] is mainly the consequence of the different ways Democrats and Republicans would represent the same districts.").

²⁵⁵ *Id.* at 666.

²⁵⁶ Id. at 679.

²⁵⁷ See Joseph Bafumi & Michael C. Herron, Leapfrog Representation and Extremism: A Study of American Voters and Their Members in Congress, 104 Am. Pol. Sci. Rev. 519, 528–32 (2010).

B. Accountability

It might be argued that compromises forced by a governmental structure that requires legislative approval will reduce accountability because voters will not be able to hold a single actor accountable for its ideological choices.²⁵⁸ But to the contrary, we maintain that governmental structures that put more responsibility for decisions in state and federal legislatures will lead to greater accountability, not less accountability.

Currently, delegation to administrative agencies, unilateral executive agreements, and unilateral military action allow legislators to avoid accountability. ²⁵⁹ Legislators do not have to vote on key issues facing the polity. So whatever accountability is gained for the President is lost in accountability for legislators. ²⁶⁰ Under this view, reducing delegation and unilateralism would result in a net wash for accountability, because Congress would become accountable for the actions for which the President is currently accountable.

But reducing unilateralism and delegation would likely lead towards greater accountability. Political scientists suggest that the President is held mostly responsible for a few fundamental issues, such as war and peace and the state of the economy.²⁶¹ Thus, the President may bear relatively little accountability for regulations issued by executive branch agencies that his or her administration controls.²⁶² But if delegation were reduced, members of Congress would be held responsible for votes on specific regulations. Indeed, many observers believe that one of the prime motivations for legislative delegation is that it permits members of Congress to avoid accountability for unpopular regulations.²⁶³

²⁵⁸ Nzelibe & Stephenson, *supra* note 181, at 626 ("On the pessimistic account, separation of powers reduces information about true responsibility because voters cannot figure out which agents were responsible for adopting or blocking a given policy.").

²⁵⁹ DAVID SCHOENBROD, POWER WITHOUT RESPONSIBILITY: HOW CONGRESS ABUSES THE PEOPLE THROUGH DELEGATION 105–11 (1993) (providing examples of congressional avoidance of accountability through delegation); John O. McGinnis, *Constitutional Review by the Executive in Foreign Affairs and War Powers: A Consequence of Rational Choice in the Separation of Powers*, 56 LAW & CONTEMP. PROBS. 293, 306 (1993) (describing members of Congress in the war powers area as a "ululating... chorus" which complains about the executive's decisions without being the deciders themselves).

²⁶⁰ See Neomi Rao, Administrative Collusion: How Delegation Diminishes the Collective Congress, 90 N.Y.U. L. REV. 1463, 1476–84 (2015).

²⁶¹ See, e.g., Jill L. Curry & Irwin L. Morris, *The Contemporary Presidency: Explaining Presidential Greatness: The Role of Peace and Prosperity?*, 40 PRESIDENTIAL STUD. Q. 515, 528–29 (2010).

²⁶² See generally Nicholas O. Stephanopoulos, *Accountability Claims in Constitutional Law*, 112 Nw. U. L. Rev. 989 (2018).

²⁶³ See Aranson, Gellhorn & Robinson, supra note 110, at 63–64.

C. Privileging the Status Quo

Another possible argument against the reforms outlined here is that they privilege the status quo and thus favor citizens who want stasis over those who advocate for change.²⁶⁴ In particular, it might be argued that the administrative process effects more regulatory change than the more laborious process of enacting legislation, because a single decision maker can determine the shape of rules. The difficulty with this argument is that citizens may indeed want regulatory change, but often in opposite directions. Some citizens desire more deregulation, while others prefer more regulation. Thus, requiring the legislature to act before major regulations and deregulations are enacted does not privilege either side in the enduring tug-of-war in the regulatory state.²⁶⁵ Moreover, preventing unilateralism in war making preserves the status quo of peace. Many on the left who are less enamored about preserving the status quo in domestic affairs favor preserving this status quo in geopolitical affairs, thus suggesting the relative ideological neutrality of reducing unilateralism to advance democratic stability and check polarization.²⁶⁶

The argument from the status quo against greater congressional control over offensive military actions or major international agreements is even weaker. Peace is a sensible status quo to be defended as the baseline state of affairs. That status quo is implicit in the Constitution's requirement to put the power of declaring war in Congress. Similarly, the Constitution requires a supermajority consensus in the Senate for treaties. That requirement reflects the view that allowing substantial obligations to foreign nations to shape our destiny requires a significant consensus within the polity.²⁶⁷ Moreover, because dispensing with or violating treaties has significant costs,²⁶⁸ they should be entered into with the caution that a requirement of consensus enforces.²⁶⁹

²⁶⁴ See discussion supra Parts III.B, III.C, and IV.

²⁶⁵ Even one prominent opponent of the REINS Act, for instance, concedes that it would apply to major deregulation as well as regulation. *See* Ronald M. Levin, *The REINS Act: Unbridled Impediment to Regulation*, 83 GEO. WASH. L. REV. 1446, 1459–60 (2015).

²⁶⁶ See McCoy, Rahman & Somer, supra note 12, at 28–31 (discussing the volatile effects of polarization in American politics as each side escalates in the tools used while in power to maximize unilateral control).

²⁶⁷ See McGinnis & Rappaport, supra note 217, at 763.

²⁶⁸ See generally Laurence R. Helfer, Exiting Treaties, 91 VA. L. REV. 1579 (2005).

²⁶⁹ *Id.* at 1588–92. Nor is the argument that the Constitution as a whole, unduly privileges the status quo persuasive, even though the document limits delegation and requires supermajoritarian ratification of treaties. Since the current generation can change the Constitution under largely the same rules as past generations, each generation has an equal power to enact constitutional provisions. The original Constitution was enacted under similar supermajority rules as the amendment process requires. *See* JOHN O. MCGINNIS & MICHAEL B. RAPPAPORT, ORIGINALISM AND THE GOOD CONSTITUTION 99 (2013) [hereinafter ORIGINALISM AND THE GOOD CONSTITUTION]. And, the current Constitution can be amended under the same procedures that governed prior amendments. *Id.* While it is sometimes argued that the Constitution is simply too hard to amend, see, for example, Eric A. Posner, *The U.S.*

D. Principled Decision-Making

Another argument for administrative delegations and executive agreements is that they allow for more principled decisions. In a sense, this is just the flip side of the argument for consensus. Consensus frequently requires messy compromises that may not allow one to achieve a full moral victory.

But this argument also embraces a far too simplistic and unattractive view of principled decision-making. First, one's principles might well include compromising with others. That is a sensible principle in a democratic society with people of diverse views.²⁷⁰ Second, principles themselves are not always simple. They are sometimes limited in their scope and subject to countervailing considerations—considerations that are often captured in legal doctrine, as in requirements that provisions, such as free speech, must yield to compelling

Constitution Is Impossible to Amend, SLATE (May 5, 2014), https://slate.com/news-andpolitics/2014/05/amending-the-constitution-is-much-too-hard-blame-the-founders.html [https:// perma.cc/6HC7-8MMY], that argument is ahistorical. Many of the most important provisions, such as the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, Fifteenth, Sixteenth, Seventeenth, and Nineteenth Amendments, were added by the amendment process. See Jesse Wegman, Thomas Jefferson Gave the Constitution 19 Years. Look Where We Are Now., N.Y. TIMES (Aug. 4, 2021), https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/04/opinion/amend-constitution.html [https://perma.cc/Q6DZ-C6YE] (discussing the addition of the Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments); see also The Sixteenth Amendment, NEWS-HERALD (Feb. 20, 1913), https://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn85038161/1913-02-20/ed-1/seq-2/#words=sixteeth +amendment+income+tax [https://perma.cc/JT34-77PP] (local newspaper discussing the recent ratification of the Sixteenth Amendment); 17th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution: Direct Election of U.S. Senators, NAT'L ARCHIVES, https://www.archives.gov/legislative /features/17th-amendment [https://perma.cc/A7N2-TCQ6] (discussing the process by which the Seventeenth Amendment was ratified); 19th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution: Womens Right to Vote (1920), NAT'L ARCHIVES, https://www.ourdocuments.gov/print friendly.php?flash=false&page=&doc=63&title=19th+Amendment+to+the+U.S.+Constit ution%3A+Womens+Right+to+Vote+%281920%29 [https://perma.cc/QF57-M87N]. U.S. CONST. amends. XIII (outlawing slavery), XIV (guaranteeing equal protection and due process as against states), XV (protecting the right to vote irrespective of race), XVI (allowing Congress to levy an income tax), XVII (popular election of senators), XIX (protecting the right to vote irrespective of sex). The latter three amendments were added when the United States had forty-eight of the fifty states it has today. The Sixteenth and Seventeenth Amendments were added in 1913, and the Nineteenth Amendment in 1920. MARK TUSHNET, THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: A CONTEXTUAL ANALYSIS, at xvi (2009). Alaska and Hawaii did not become states until 1959. Fred A. Seaton, Alaska's Struggle for Statehood, 39 NEB. L. REV. 253, 253, 261-62 (1960); see also An Act to Provide for the Admission of the State of Hawai'i into the Union, Pub. L. No. 86-3, 73 Stat. 4 (1959). Moreover, the consensus requirement generates desirable provisions such as the separation of powers, federalism, checks and balances, and the protection of individual rights. See Originalism and the Good Constitution, supra, at 98–99. That constitutional framework is our status quo but is likely a valuable one until changed by another consensus. Indeed, many of these provisions promote deliberation and prevent unilateralism.

²⁷⁰ See, e.g., HANS KELSEN, GENERAL THEORY OF LAW AND STATE 288 (1961) ("[C]ompromise is part of democracy's very nature.").

interests.²⁷¹ A world governed by simple absolutes unhedged by contrary considerations can be very unattractive.

Moreover, a dynamic view of politics allows principles to function and grow even within compromises. Compromises frequently change over time as some principle becomes more popular and compelling.²⁷² Thus, legislation may initially represent a compromise because the principle is applied with a more limited scope than its advocates would wish. But the operation of the principle even within its narrower ambit may then contribute to its popularity and smooth the way for its expansion. For instance, as a result of compromise, the 1964 Civil Rights Act only applied to businesses.²⁷³ But as the nondiscrimination principle gained popularity, Congress extended the principle in the 1972 Civil Rights Act to education.²⁷⁴

In other words, principles are often the regulative ideals that drive compromises. They do not disappear once a compromise is reached. Instead, they continue to exert force behind the scenes. Indeed, the debate over the contours of the compromise provides publicity to principles and may provide an impetus for their future extension.

And it is not clear that the alternative—positions that are starkly principled under some view of abstract principles—will result in policies that most people consider principled, particularly if the principles change from administration to administration, as they often do under unilateralism. Indeed, that kind of instability may alienate citizens from politics altogether. It may also have other bad effects, such as inhibiting economic growth by making it harder for individuals and businesses to plan.

E. Advantages for Good Decision-Making

Another possible criticism is that presidential unilateralism provides benefits for decision-making that their alternatives do not.²⁷⁵ In particular, it might be argued that they provide expertise, take less time, and can more quickly respond to emergencies. We doubt these asserted advantages are substantial. But

²⁷¹ See, e.g., Richard H. Fallon, Jr., Foreword: Implementing the Constitution, 111 HARV. L. REV. 54, 101–02 (1997) (discussing how balancing tests represent compromise).

²⁷² AMY GUTMANN & DENNIS THOMPSON, THE SPIRIT OF COMPROMISE: WHY GOVERNING DEMANDS IT AND CAMPAIGNING UNDERMINES IT 84–85 (2012) ("The process of mutual reason-giving in deliberative democracy asks citizens and leaders to treat their principles as open to change.... This openness to change over time... helps to constrain the uncompromising mindset and promote desirable compromise.").

²⁷³ Civil Rights Act of 1964, Pub. L. No. 88-352, 78 Stat. 241 (1964).

²⁷⁴ Civil Rights Act of 1972, Pub. L. No. 92-261, 86 Stat. 103 (1972); Douglas P. Ruth, Note, *Title VII & Title IX* = ?: *Is Title IX the Exclusive Remedy for Employment Discrimination in the Educational Sector*?, 5 CORNELL J.L. & PUB. POL'Y 185, 185 (1996).

²⁷⁵ Brandon Rottinghaus, Exercising Unilateral Discretion: Presidential Justifications of Unilateral Powers in a Shared Powers System, 47 AM. Pol. Rsch. 3, 6–7 (2019), https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1532673X17733798 [https://perma.cc/AH2W-QTJN].

even if they were more substantial than we believe they are, they would still be outweighed by the serious cost of increased polarization.

1. Delegation and the Administrative State

a. Expertise

Expertise is one of the primary rationales offered for the administrative state. 276 According to this argument, agencies employ experts who make more informed and thoughtful decisions about regulatory matters, particularly those with a technical component. We do not disagree that expertise provides some advantages, but the administrative state creates offsetting disadvantages. Moreover, there are ways to utilize expertise that are consistent with less delegation.

First, while agencies have expertise, they also have incentives that may prevent that expertise from reaching correct decisions. For instance, agencies have an interest in growing bigger and thus are likely to favor rules that increase their power and budgets.²⁷⁷ Agencies also frequently combine rulemaking, prosecuting rule violations, and adjudicating those alleged violations.²⁷⁸ This agglomeration of powers is in tension with the separation of powers, which separates these functions in no small part to avoid creating bad incentives.²⁷⁹ For instance, an institution that decides to prosecute a rule violation is unlikely to be an impartial judge of the claimed violation.²⁸⁰ Finally, as it happens, the federal bureaucracy leans distinctly to the left of the population.²⁸¹ Thus, ideology is likely to distort expertise, especially as compared to a world where the ideology of experts was more balanced.²⁸²

 ²⁷⁶ See, e.g., Stephen Breyer, The Executive Branch, Administrative Action, and Comparative Expertise, 32 Cardozo L. Rev. 2189, 2193–95 (2011).
 ²⁷⁷ WILLIAM A. NISKANEN, Jr., BUREAUCRACY AND REPRESENTATIVE GOVERNMENT 38

²⁷⁷ WILLIAM A. NISKANEN, JR., BUREAUCRACY AND REPRESENTATIVE GOVERNMENT 38 (1971); see also William A. Niskanen, *Nonmarket Decision Making: The Peculiar Economics of Bureaucracy*, 58 AM. ECON. REV. 293, 293–94 (1968) (discussing maximizing bureaucratic utility).

²⁷⁸ See Lawson, supra note 26, at 1248.

²⁷⁹ See Rappaport, supra note 123, at 112–13.

²⁸⁰ Id.

²⁸¹ Jonathan Swan, Government Workers Shun Trump, Give Big Money to Clinton Campaign, HILL (Oct. 26, 2016), https://thehill.com/homenews/campaign/302817-government-workers-shun-trump-give-big-money-to-clinton-campaign [https://perma.cc/TB9G-HHL7] (noting evidence that government workers are more liberal than the population). In 2016, ninety-five percent of those making campaign donations at fourteen large government agencies contributed to Hillary Clinton. Id.

²⁸² That is one reason that the suggestion that empowering the civil service, see Emerson & Michaels, *supra* note 80, at 422, is not a full solution to the problem of polarization. It may lead to the sense of Republicans that they are permanently excluded from government power. In a sense, this bug may be feature of their essay, because it is written from an explicitly progressive viewpoint. *Id.* at 432.

Second, many mechanisms exist which allow Congress to employ expertise without delegation. For instance, the REINS Act would force Congress to vote on major rules, but the rules would be the product of agency deliberations and thus benefit from their expertise. Moreover, Congress could create legislative expertise, such as by establishing a Congressional Regulatory Office modelled on the Congressional Budget Office.

b. Time

Another argument for delegation is that Congress would not have time to pass all the needed regulations. But reducing polarization does not require that Congress pass all regulations, only the most consequential ones. Legislation like the REINS Act is targeted at such major regulations and would not clutter up floor time with minor regulations. Moreover, it is an error to think that Congress lacks time to consider important regulations. It takes substantial breaks throughout the year. Pass It spends time on matters that are politically advantageous to it, such as naming post offices, enacting non-binding resolutions, and conducting oversight hearings. Time redirected to considering important regulations would return Congress to its essential function—determining the rules by which its fellow citizens must live.

c. Emergency

It might be argued that sometimes agencies need to issue emergency regulations to protect health and safety.²⁸⁷ But framework legislation could be passed that would allow major regulations to go into effect for a temporary period on an emergency basis without prior congressional approval. Judicial

²⁸³ See Levin, supra note 265, at 1448.

²⁸⁴ See id. at 1451–52. The REINS Act would require Congress to enact "major rules" and a rule would be deemed major if the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs concludes it is likely to have an annual effect on the economy of \$100 million or more, or otherwise have a significant effect on consumer prices or the economy. *Id.*; see also Regulations From the Executive in Need of Scrutiny Act of 2011, H.R. 10, 112th Cong. § 3 (2011) (to amend 5 U.S.C. § 804(2)).

²⁸⁵See Tom Murse, *How Many Days a Year Congress Works*, THOUGHTCO., https://www.thoughtco.com/average-number-of-legislative-days-3368250 [https://perma.cc/329F-AMPK] (noting that each House of Congress is in session about a third of the days in a year).

²⁸⁶ See, e.g., Soc'y for Hum. Res. Mgmt. & Cong. Mgmt. Found., Life in Congress: The Member Perspective 17–18 (2013), https://www.congressfoundation.org/storage/documents/CMF_Pubs/life-in-congress-the-member-perspective.pdf [https://perma.cc/CJ9X-ZRCU].

²⁸⁷ See, e.g., Joshua L. Friedman, Emergency Powers of the Executive: The President's Authority When All Hell Breaks Loose, 25 J.L. HEALTH 265, 271–83 (2012) (describing a variety of emergency powers available to the executive and the opportunity to build upon and expand upon regulatory powers during emergencies).

review could be available to prevent abuse of this emergency exception. Congress would then be required to vote on the proposed regulation within a specified period.

2. Presidential Unilateralism in Military and Foreign Affairs

a. Expertise

It might be argued, again, that the President has expertise that Congress lacks in military and foreign affairs. ²⁸⁸ For instance, the President has access to intelligence information that members of Congress do not possess. ²⁸⁹ But the problem again is that incentives may distort judgment. The Framers required Congress to declare war in no small part because they feared that executives had too great a tendency to go to war. Wars would aggrandize the executive branch and offer the prospect of lasting fame to chief executives. ²⁹⁰ While such presidential incentives may not be quite as problematic for international agreements, they remain present. International agreements based on executive power allow the President to preen on the world stage.

And it is hardly clear that unilateral Presidential decisions to commit American forces to war have been a success. The intervention in Libya, for instance, has been strongly criticized as a humanitarian disaster.²⁹¹

b. Time

We doubt that a serious argument exists that Congress lacks the time to deliberate on offensive military action—the most serious kind of issue a nation can face. Although international agreements may be less momentous, they are obviously the kind of important matter that is deserving of Congress's consideration.

²⁸⁸ Eric A. Posner, *Deference to the Executive in the United States After September 11:* Congress, the Courts, and the Office of Legal Counsel, 35 HARV. J.L. & PUB. POL'Y 213, 214–17 (2012); see also Friedman, supra note 287, at 274 (discussing the court's deference to the executive to act unilaterally in times of emergency through its nearly unlimited resources, suggesting "[t]he power to protect the [n]ation ought to exist without limitation because it is impossible to foresee or define the extent and variety of national exigencies, or the correspondent extent and variety of the means which may be necessary to satisfy them." (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 U.S. 507, 580 (2004) (Thomas, J., dissenting))).

²⁸⁹ Anne Joseph O'Connell, *The Architecture of Smart Intelligence: Structuring and Overseeing Agencies in the Post-9/11 World*, 94 CALIF. L. REV. 1655, 1660–63 (2006).

²⁹⁰ See Douglass Adair, Fame and the Founding Fathers 3–36 (Trevor Colbourn ed., 1974); see also William Michael Treanor, Fame, The Founding, and The Power to Declare War, 82 CORNELL L. Rev. 695, 729–40 (1997).

²⁹¹ See Alan J. Kuperman, NATO's Intervention in Libya: A Humanitarian Success?, in Libya, the Responsibility to Protect and the Future of Humanitarian Intervention 191–221 (Aidan Hehir & Robert Murray eds., 2013).

c. Emergency

Since the Constitution allows the President to respond to sudden attacks without congressional authorization, the Constitution avoids the most pressing concerns about military emergencies.

VI. CONCLUSION: A WORLD OF CONTENDING EXTREMES OR A WORLD OF COOPERATION AND COMPROMISE?

Structures that encourage extreme outcomes and political polarization inevitably lead to an angry and divisive politics.²⁹² Because unilateralism allows the President and the Supreme Court to impose policies that do not have the support of moderates, extreme voices gain power within parties as they influence the party to pursue extreme outcomes. Masters of soundbites that reinforce party prejudices, like Alexandra Ocasio-Cortez and Jim Jordan, become important spokespeople, even if they have never proven themselves at the business of enacting bills that can gain consensus support.²⁹³

These effects also resonate outside the halls of Congress.²⁹⁴ In a world where those at the extreme can get what they want without compromise, there is less reason to listen to the citizens in the vast middle of the political spectrum.²⁹⁵ Political discourse becomes more strident, and the resulting angry cacophony creates an atmosphere conducive to even more extremism and dismissal of reasonable objections to policy.²⁹⁶

But in a world where greater consensus is needed to enact regulations and to purse military and foreign objectives, different kinds of politicians come to the fore, dealmakers rather than ideologues. The media would then pay more attention to people like Senators Chris Coons and Richard Shelby because congressional consensus would be required to make policy. With the return to a politics in which Congress enacts more of the law, the President will become less important. This will help smooth our turbulent politics by decreasing both the sycophancy that comes from presidential supporters investing their hopes in a single person and the contempt that comes from presidential opponents concentrating their fears in that same person. In a less polarized world, citizens

²⁹² Pildes, *supra* note 1, at 299 (discussing how structural and historical factors have led to hyperpolarization).

²⁹³ See Melanie Zanona, Centrist Lawmakers Eye Growing Power in 2019, HILL (Mar. 27, 2018), https://thehill.com/homenews/house/380565-centrist-lawmakers-eye-growing-power-in-2019 [https://perma.cc/9S8U-ZVTP] (noting that both moderate Republicans and Democrats have lost seats in the House since 2010).

²⁹⁴ Alan Abramowitz & Steven Webster, *'Negative Partisanship' Explains Everything*, POLITICO (Sept.-Oct. 2017), https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2017/09/05/negative-partisanship-explains-everything-215534 [https://perma.cc/K26K-PWKE].

²⁹⁶ See Jonathan Rauch, *How Activists Choose Our Politicians, Long Before We Vote*, BROOKINGS INST. (Dec. 7, 2017), https://www.brookings.edu/blog/fixgov/2017/12/07/how-activists-choose-our-politicians-long-before-we-vote/ [https://perma.cc/HF9T-J6YY].

will not feel they must defend the President of their party, even if he or she does something they dislike, or criticize the President of the opposing party, even if he or she does something they support.

A political structure that requires wider agreement necessarily leads to a legislative agenda that appeals to a broader range of citizens. The search for this agenda encourages citizens and politicians to ponder the aspirations and needs they have in common and to listen to one another with respect to secure the support needed to get things done. The result would be compromises that have wider support.

Such a political process would unite rather than divide the citizenry because, in a world with consensus requirements, citizens are more likely to identify with the polity as a whole rather than see themselves as part of an embattled minority waiting for its turn to rule. Indeed, a consensus politics ultimately has the capacity to improve citizens' views of one another. With less delegation and unilateral action and more compromise, we would less often see each other as targets or threats and more as partners in a common civic enterprise. A political structure that rewards extremes produces demonization, but consensus structures can bring forth the better angels of our nature.